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FIRST SUPPLEMENT DATED 13 JULY 2017 TO THE PROSPECTUS DATED 16 FEBRUARY 2017 

 

BANCO BPI, S.A. 

(incorporated with limited liability in the Republic of Portugal) 

 

EUR 7,000,000,000  

COVERED BONDS PROGRAMME 

 

 

This supplement dated 13 July 2017 (the “Supplement”) to the Base Prospectus dated 16 February 2017 (the “Base 

Prospectus”), constitutes a supplement to the Base Prospectus, in the meaning of article 16 of Directive 

2003/71/EC, as amended, prepared in connection with the Covered Bonds Programme (the “Programme”) 

established by Banco BPI, S.A. (the “Issuer”, fully identified in the Base Prospectus). Terms defined in the Base 

Prospectus have the same meaning when used in this Supplement. 

Each of the Issuer, the members of the Board of Directors of the Issuer and the members of the Supervisory Board 

and the Statutory Auditor of the Issuer (see the relevant subsections of the “DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER” 

section in the Base Prospectus as supplemented pursuant to this Supplement) hereby declares that, to the best of 

its knowledge (having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this 

Supplement is in accordance with the facts and contains no omissions likely to affect its import. 

This Supplement is supplemental to, and should be read in conjunction with, the Base Prospectus. To the extent 

that there is any inconsistency between any statement in this Supplement and any other statement in or incorporated 

by reference in the Base Prospectus, the statements in this Supplement will prevail. 

Save as disclosed in this Supplement, no other significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to 

information included in the Base Prospectus, as supplemented, has arisen or been noted, as the case may be, since 

the approval of the Base Prospectus. 

This Supplement to the Base Prospectus will be available for inspection at and may be obtained free of charge 

from the registered office of the Issuer and is available for viewing in the following websites: 

 Website of the Issuer; and 

 Website of the Comissão do Mercado de Valores Mobiliários: www.cmvm.pt. 

 

A. GENERAL AMENDMENTS 

References to, and the definition of, the Base Prospectus dated 16 February 2017 shall be amended to include this 

Supplement dated 13 July 2017. 

 

B. COVER PAGE 

The third paragraph of the cover page (first page of the Base Prospectus) has been entirely deleted and replaced as 

follows: 

“Covered Bonds will be issued in registered (nominativas) form (the “Registered Covered Bonds”) and be 

represented in book-entry (escriturais). The maximum aggregate nominal amount of all Covered Bonds from time 
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to time outstanding under the Programme will not exceed €7,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies 

calculated as described herein), subject to increase as described herein. Covered Bonds may be issued on a 

continuing basis to the Dealer specified and any additional Dealer appointed under the Programme from time to 

time by the Issuer (each a “Dealer” and together, the “Dealers”), whose appointment may be for a specific issue 

or on an ongoing basis. References in this Base Prospectus to the relevant Dealer shall, in the case of an issue of 

Covered Bonds being (or intended to be) subscribed by more than one Dealer, be to all Dealers agreeing to 

purchase such Covered Bonds.” 

 

C. RISK FACTORS 

1. The risk factor under the heading “Global Financial Volatility”, which could be found on page 4 of the Base 

Prospectus, has been entirely deleted and replaced as follows: 

“The Issuer's performance is reliant on economic activity and the conditions of global financial markets. After the 

economic and financial credit crisis of 2007-2008, global growth has recovered and financial markets stabilized 

on the basis of proactive economic policies put into practice around the globe, with particular emphasis on central 

banks’ policies in developed economies. Short term interest rates have been slashed to the minimum threshold, in 

some cases turned negative, and the major central banks supplied ample funding and liquidity to the world 

financial system, embarking on so-called non-conventional monetary policies. Last year, the monetary policy of 

the main central banks remained strongly accommodative, but different stages of the economic cycle of the 

developed economies entailed a divergent position of the monetary policy stance. After a second upward movement 

in its key rates in December 2016, the U.S. Federal Reserve (“Fed”) decided for two additional raises in March 

and June, with a significant probability of a third raise occurring in September. Moreover, the Fed has already 

outlined the process of balance sheet normalization, possibly beginning in 2018. Meanwhile, the European Central 

Bank (“ECB”) has maintained the ultra-accommodative nature of its policy given the undershoot in inflation and 

inflation expectations, despite the recent better prospects on economic growth in the euro-area. Additionally, 

political factors have been confounding expectations and constraining the outlook, adding uncertainty. There are 

still relevant doubts relating to the EU-UK negotiations regarding the Brexit process; at the same time, other 

relevant factors, like an upcoming early Italian election, remain a source of uncertainty. Also relevant is the 

prospect for fiscal policy in the US, where the initial expectations on the plans of the current administration are 

so far not being met.  

Despite the efforts of Governments and central banks, almost ten years after the onset of the international financial 

crisis, the global economic situation continues to be characterized by slow growth, and low, albeit increasing, 

inflation. Additionally, high debt levels remain in several economies, both at public and private sector level, and 

are also restraining aggregate demand growth and hindering the economy’s response to ultra-loose monetary 

conditions.  

There is now a more positive mood, particularly regarding the euro-area’s economic outlook: specifically, the 

fading out of some political upheavals (the French, Dutch and British elections) gave room to a more optimistic 

view. However, on the other side of the Atlantic, the high expectations of global consensus about the effectiveness 

of the United States President’s looser fiscal policy may eventually be disappointed; additionally, final results will 

also depend on the Fed’s stance that would become much stricter if the United States President’s policies are 

perceived as inflationary. Negative developments in the international trade area due to the implementation of 
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protectionist policies may also occur, as well as any disruption with a major global player (especially China) 

causing unexpected dislocations in geopolitical risks.  

In the Eurozone, the speculation about future monetary policies is still present; the expected start of ECB tapering 

in 2018 will probably cause some volatility, with more negative impact in the peripherals perceived to be more 

vulnerable, such as Portugal. In this case, the sovereign risk premium would be pressured with negative 

implications for financing costs internally. A worst-case scenario might include a disorderly increase in long term 

interest rates, with negative impacts on households’ and firms’ confidence indices and economic growth. In an 

adverse scenario, this could have a negative impact on balance-sheet valuations and risk perceptions might 

change, with impact on the capacity of the Issuer to access international wholesale financial markets. 

Nevertheless, it seems that the impact of this scenario on Portugal would now have a lesser negative effect, due to 

the continued fiscal consolidation and resulting decrease in debt yield spreads.” 

 

2. The second and third paragraphs of the risk factor under the heading “Euro-zone debt crisis”, which could be 

found on page 5 of the Base Prospectus, have been entirely deleted and replaced as follows: 

“Additionally, the banking sector problems aggravated in 2016, especially in Italy, where non-performing loans 

(“NPLs”) are particularly high and some banks had to receive public financial support. In Portugal, the delay in 

the process of sale of Novo Banco, S.A. (“Novo Banco”) was a pending question aggravating the country’s risk 

perception due to uncertainty regarding the potential operation’s costs for the public sector: still, the process is 

now on a more advanced phase, with the final sale to Lone Star Funds only dependent on a debt swap to occur 

this year. In a hypothetical scenario of huge financial instability, which seems less likely in the near term, a more 

disruptive framework might return, and create difficulties in the access of peripheral markets institutions to the 

international capital markets. In the case of Portugal, the eligibility of public debt to participate in the Public 

Sector Purchase Programme depends on maintaining an investment grade rating, which is currently only assigned 

by one of the credit rating agencies recognized by the ECB, DBRS Ratings Limited (“DBRS”). 

Uncertainty has diminished in 2017, chiefly due to the acceleration of economic activity and the apparent progress 

in fiscal consolidation. There is now a more positive view regarding the Portuguese fiscal situation, of which the 

exit from the Excessive Deficit Procedure is a clear sign: the budget deficit stood at 2 per cent. in 2016, resulting 

in a cumulative consolidation of 9.2 p.p. of the GDP since the 11.2 per cent. deficit posted in 2010. Externally, the 

evolution of the Euro-zone is allowing for a more benign scenario, helping Portuguese exports. However, despite 

the progresses seen, the Portuguese economy continues vulnerable to external shocks. Indeed, the apparent growth 

revival in the Eurozone countries may lead to further speculation about the pace of ECB tapering, pressuring the 

sovereign’s risk premium. Economic growth might also disappoint if external risks regarding global demand are 

to materialize. Additionally, the upward interest rate cycle by the U.S. Federal Reserve might eventually bring 

volatility and instability to the international financial markets, with an impact on the Issuer. Financial instability 

may also arise due to the intensification of geopolitical risks, possibly fuelled by the recent North-American 

presidency.”  

 

3. The first sentence of the fifth paragraph of the risk factor under the heading “Euro-zone debt crisis”, which 

could be found on page 5 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely deleted and replaced as follows: 
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“An eventual deterioration of the financial and economic environment is a source of challenges for the Issuer, and 

may adversely affect its business, financial conditions and results of operations in the following ways:” 

 

4. The risk factor under the heading “Economic and financial situation in Portugal”, which could be found on 

page 7 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely deleted and replaced as follows: 

“The economic and financial crisis in Portugal, specifically the developments that have been on the basis of the 

Economic and Financial Assistance Programme (Programa de Assistência Económica e Financeira, the “PAEF”) 

by the Troika in the period 2011-2014, have affected negatively the Issuer’s financial condition, business and 

results of operations and any further deterioration of the economic conditions may further affect the Issuer. 

Since a substantial part of the Issuer’s activities is performed in Portugal, the Issuer depends on the developments 

in the Portuguese economy, which in turn is affected by the developments of the economic and financial situation 

in the Eurozone. 

After steady economic growth during the years of 1995 – 2000, the Portuguese economy registered a small and 

unbalanced expansion in the first decade of the 21st century, mainly driven by domestic demand while several 

imbalances emerged, namely as far as the external situation and debt levels were concerned. As a consequence of 

the international financial crisis and consequent great recession, the Portuguese economic framework 

deteriorated and by 2009 Portugal’s GDP contracted by 3 per cent.. The economy recovered in 2010, but the 

intensification of the euro sovereign debt crisis exposed the domestic vulnerabilities, particularly the lack of 

external competitiveness reflected in high debt across private and public sectors and external financing needs, 

imbalances that urged to be corrected in order to achieve a more sustainable growth path. 

The Portuguese economy registered a contraction of 6.8 per cent.1, from the end of 2010 to 2013, during the period 

of external financial assistance. Domestic demand has been particularly affected, having dropped 14.3 per cent. 

in this period with particular emphasis to investment whose contraction was particularly abrupt, above 30 per 

cent.. Private consumption has also receded, about 10 per cent., reflecting the fall in disposable income and the 

deterioration seen in the labour market. Indeed, in the same period, unemployment reached historical highs, at 

17.5 per cent.2 in the first quarter of 2013. The economy returned to growth in the second half of 2013 whereas 

unemployment fell despite remaining high compared with historical the historical pattern. 

Since 2014, Portugal returned to growth, advancing 0.9 per cent. in that year, 1.6 per cent. in 2015, and 1.4 per 

cent. in 2016. The end of last year and the beginning of 2017 have brought a more optimistic view, with GDP 

growth in Q1 2017 at 2.8 per cent. yoy. In the whole of 2017, the Bank of Portugal and the IMF expect a 1.8 per 

cent. and 1.7 per cent. growth, respectively, in line with the 1.8 per cent. Government forecast. Unemployment 

decreased steadily in this period: the unemployment rate was 10.1 per cent. in Q1 2017. Near term growth 

prospects have improved considerably, as the domestic economy is benefiting from the improved momentum in 

external demand (especially euro-zone countries), low oil prices and ultra-expansionary monetary policy, in 

addition to specific domestic factors that include the surge in activities related with the tourism sector. In 2017, 

domestic demand should contribute positively to growth, especially private consumption considering the expected 

increase in disposable income (in particular due to the restitution of salaries to public service workers and 

pensions approved in 2016, and to have their fullest effects in 2017) and the improvement seen in the labour 

                                                      
1 Source: Instituto Nacional de Estatística (“INE”) data and the Issuer’s calculations. 
2 Source: INE. 
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market. Foreign demand is also expected to contribute positively to growth, driven by the expected normalization 

of fuel exports (after the technical stoppage on the main refinery at the beginning of 2016), the expected 

stabilization of the economic situation of Angola, and also due to across the board improvements in the external 

competitiveness of Portuguese sales abroad, apparent through an over performance of goods and services exports 

and visible on market share gains. 

Nevertheless, there are several obstacles that may prevent a more positive and sustainable scenario to materialize 

and they are closely related with the low stock of capital level (investment has been on a downward trend for 

several years, and represents now circa 15 per cent. of GDP) and with an eventual delay of investment decisions 

by companies. Gross capital formation has now increased for 2 quarters in a row after a period of year-on-year 

decreases in the first 9 months of 2016; it is expected to increase this year; however, risks remain, as deleveraging 

at private sector level continues to proceed and some uncertainty regarding business fiscal policies prevail. 

Additionally, economic growth potential continues to be feeble and GDP might decelerate in the next couple of 

years as domestic demand continues to be hindered by structural factors, related to high debt level at the private 

and public sectors. The external openness degree has been gradually increasing, which is by itself positive on a 

long term prospective given the small dimension of the economy on an international comparison. Nevertheless, a 

greater exports intensity also increases the sensibility to external shocks which could arise if external demand 

disappoints, or if financial instability returns to international financial markets due to faster than expected pace 

of tightening by the U.S. Federal Reserve, due to an eventual lack of support from the ECB (tapering effect), or 

eventually by the intensification of geopolitical risks. All these are potentially adverse developments that would 

impact negatively the economic activity, eventually pressuring financing costs for domestic agents and put at stake 

some of the improvements already achieved, with unfavourable consequences for the Issuer.  

Portugal has successfully restored market access, issuing close to €17 billion in debt in 2014 and €20 and €17 

billion in 2015 and 2016, respectively, through syndications and auctions3, excluding debt exchanges. In 2017, 

issuing should decrease to €15 billion, according to the Treasury financing programme. These issues have met 

strong demand by foreign investors and an increasing part has been taken by institutional investors, reflecting the 

renewed optimism amongst international investors as far as the sovereign risk is concerned. A new issue of €3 

billion in debt by Portugal through syndication was concluded in January 2017. Following the decrease in funding 

costs, Portugal obtained authorization to make an early repayment of half of the IMF assistance loan (circa €13 

billion). In 2015, Portugal repaid €8.4 billion, €4.5 billion in 2016 and €1.7 billion in 2017– equivalent to around 

47 per cent. of the loan. Moreover, the Portuguese Government expects to proceed to early repayments of €6.5 

billion in 2018 and €3.2 billion in 2019.  

The ECB Public Sector Purchase Programme has been one of the main supports for the Portuguese sovereign 

bond market in recent years, promoting declining financing costs for the State. However, in 2016 and at the earlier 

months of 2017 the spread over the European benchmark widened to a maximum of 380 b.p. over the benchmark 

and the yield of the 10 years OT (Obrigações do Tesouro) surpassed 4 per cent.. Part of this movement has been 

due to political events related to renewed concerns over the possibility of ruptures in the Eurozone in the aftermath 

of the French Presidential election, which have been diluted after Emmanuel Macron’s designation. However, the 

pressure on the risk premia has also been motivated by the perception that the European Central bank might be 

more aggressive than expected in the process of tapering and normalization of the euro zone interest rates, scenario 

                                                      
3 Source: Agência de Gestão da Tesouraria e da Dívida Pública - IGCP, E.P.E. (“IGCP”). 
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with potentially negative consequences for the Portuguese financing costs given the still high public borrowing 

requirements. In a more recent period, better economic prospects, the confirmation of a relatively persistent fiscal 

consolidation trend and the revision by Fitch of the outlook of the sovereign rating (BB+) to positive from stable, 

have allowed for a decrease of more than 100 basis points in the spread against the Bund between February and 

June, which in turn resulted in the 10 years yield faring around 3 per cent.. The public debt ratio reached 130.4 

per cent. in the end of 2016, one of the highest among EU peers. Going forward, this metric is expected to improve, 

benefitting from gradually higher economic growth and an expected improvement on the fiscal position. 

Furthermore, the ECB monetary support should continue to limit the rise of Portuguese financing costs. However, 

this is a scenario subject to risks, as eligible debt to the Public Sector Purchase Programme is diminishing and 

ECB lacks arguments to change the parameters of its programme within an environment of higher growth and 

inflation. Hence, investors’ concerns are expected to persist, weighing on Portuguese financing costs. Additionally, 

increasing speculation about a possible change of ECB policy, notably the announcement of a gradual decline on 

the amount of purchases under the quantitative easing program should curb the downward trend of the Portuguese 

spread, adding some pressure to Portuguese financing costs, although this process of tapering should not start 

before 2018.  

Additionally, there are also domestic factors that may induce further deterioration in the Portuguese sovereign 

risk perception, including the failure to achieve the fiscal targets expressed in the 2017 Budget, which are 

ambitious, or to achieve a decline of the public debt ratio by year end; key for market perception will also be the 

prevailing stance of the 2018 Official Budget, expected to maintain a bias towards consolidation, albeit small; and 

also the overall economic performance as most of the forecasts are being revised towards an annual rate of growth 

higher than 2 per cent. for 2017 GDP. These risks and the persistent economic vulnerabilities have justified that 

major international rating agencies continue to consider that sovereign rating is still sub-investment grade, 

emphasizing fiscal and financial risks. 

Despite this framework, public financing needs are being comfortably met: the Government has already issued 63 

per cent. of total treasury bonds predicted for the whole year. Furthermore, the cash buffer in the end of 2017 

estimated by the Portuguese Treasury (€7.2 billion) represents around 40 per cent. of gross financing needs in 

2018. In 2017-2018, the Treasury Bonds that will reach maturity amount to circa €14 billion4 and scheduled 

reimbursements to the IMF ascend to about €6.5 billion in the same period (early repayment in 2018). Failure to 

achieve higher growth standards or to proceed with fiscal consolidation and reach a sustained downward path of 

the public debt should also affect these plans and the prospects of progressively reducing dependence from external 

markets and the ECB to finance public borrowing requirements. Additionally, any further deterioration of global 

economic conditions, including the return of strong instability in international financial markets, adverse changes 

in the credit risk of other countries in the EU, problems related to the solvency of Portuguese or international 

banks or changes in the Eurozone’s scenario, may lead to additional concerns relating to Portugal’s economy and 

state financing. Furthermore, in case global risk perceptions worsen substantially, the structural imbalances that 

persist – visible on high debt levels both at public and private sector level and on negative net foreign assets 

position, one of the worst among developed countries (circa -105.1 per cent. of GDP5 in December 2016) – will 

highlight the still high vulnerability of the Portuguese economy and be reflected on the international capital and 

                                                      
4 Source: IGCP and Bloomberg data and the Issuer’s calculations. 
5 Source: Bank of Portugal. 
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financial markets. Thus, the mentioned uncertainties had and may continue to have a significant impact in the 

Issuer’s financial condition, business and results of operations. 

Regarding the banking system, the regulatory regime in force established that credit institutions and investment 

firms should preserve a common equity tier 1 (“CET1”) capital ratio not below 7 per cent.. According to the Bank 

of Portugal, the CET 1 ratio reached 11.4 per cent. for the Portuguese banking system in December 2016, down 

from 12.4 per cent. registered in December 2015. The banking system is adjusting but continues to operate in a 

difficult environment. Balance-sheet challenges persist largely on account of the heavily indebted corporate sector. 

Even though weak credit fundamentals, in combination with extremely low interest rates on mortgage portfolios 

and declining lending volumes, continue to constrain the performance of the sector, there are signs of improving 

profitability based on the reduction of provisions and operational costs. Recent developments relating to 

Portugal’s banking system include the recapitalization programme of CGD. (“Caixa Geral de Depósitos, S.A.”), 

a bank totally held by the State, through a public capital injection of €2.5 billion and the issuance of 0.93 billion 

debt taken by private investors. The public capital injection and €0.5 billion of the private debt issue were 

concluded in March. Also, the Novo Banco sale to Lone Star Funds is almost completed, dependent now on the 

success of a senior debt exchange scheduled to occur in the near term. 

Since the beginning of 2011, Portugal suffered several rating changes. Fitch Ratings Limited (“Fitch”) 

downgraded Portugal to BB+ in November 2011 and changed the outlook to positive in April 2014. In June 2017, 

Fitch reaffirmed the rating assigned to long term public debt at BB+ but changed the outlook to “positive”. 

Standard & Poor’s Credit Market Services Europe Limited (“S&P”) downgraded Portugal to BB in January 2012, 

revised the outlook to positive in March 2015 and upgraded Portugal to BB+ in September 2015, with stable 

outlook, having reaffirmed the classification in March 2017. Moody’s Investors Service Ltd (“Moody's”) 

upgraded Portugal to Ba2 in May 2014 and to Ba1 in July 2014 with stable outlook, reaffirming the classification 

in May 2017. DBRS rating agency, a Toronto based rating provider, also recognized by the ECB as far as collateral 

eligibility is concerned, assigned an initial rating of A (low) in November 2010 with a negative outlook and 

downgraded it to BBB in October 2011, with a negative outlook. In January 2012 the rating was downgraded 

again to BBB (low) keeping the negative outlook. In May 2014, DBRS changed the outlook to stable, which was 

later confirmed in April 2017. The BBB (low) is the lowest level in the investment grade DBRS classification. 

While it may still be early to expect an improvement in the Portuguese sovereign rating, there seems to be no 

reason to expect further downgrades in the near future, and there is the possibility of positive changes in the 

outlook6. 

Current economic conditions in Portugal entail the containment in the demand for credit and for financial products 

and services in the markets in general. Alongside with financial assets quality deterioration, these may have an 

adverse effect on the financial condition and results of the Issuer.” 

 

5. The risk factor under the heading “The Issuer’s exposure to adverse political, governmental or economic 

developments related to its international expansion”, which could be found on page 11 of the Base Prospectus, 

has been entirely deleted and replaced as follows: 

“The oil price level remains a determinant factor in conditioning Angolan economic activity, as oil still represents 

close to 93 per cent. of total exports and about half of the Executive’s tax revenues, emphasizing the need to 

                                                      
6 Source: Bloomberg data 
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accelerate the diversification process. After a year of exceedingly low prices in 2016, there has been a recovery 

to levels around USD 50: in particular, the average price of Angolan exported barrels until April 2017 was USD 

52.3, well above the USD 40.5 posted in 2016, and also higher than the 2017 State Budget prediction of USD 46. 

Although there is no public information on the budget deficit in 2016, the IMF estimates it to have been around 

4.1 per cent. of the GDP, an increase in comparison with the 3.3 per cent. estimated in 2015; nevertheless, this is 

below what was predicted by the Executive itself (5.9 per cent.). For 2017, the Government is expecting a deficit 

of 5.9 per cent., similar to the forecast of the IMF (5.8 per cent.). The country’s relative fiscal prudence could 

retain the confidence of investors in spite of the still difficult economic situation. The exchange rate has been kept 

constant since April 2016, despite the pressures coming from falling reserves and a challenging external balance 

outlook.  

Growth outlook is still grim: the Government expected economic activity to have expanded 1.1 per cent. in 2016, 

with the oil sector growing 0.8 per cent. and the non-oil economy expanding 1.2 per cent., already a deceleration 

in comparison with the estimated growth of 3 per cent. (6.5 per cent. from oil, 1.5 per cent. by non-oil) in 2015; 

however, other predictions are not so optimistic, with the IMF estimating stagnation in 2016 and the Economist 

Intelligence Unit pointing towards 0.6 per cent growth. For 2017, expectations are of a slightly better outlook, 

with 1.8 per cent. growth in the oil sector and 2.3 per cent. in the remaining economic activities, leading Angola 

to grow 2.1 per cent., according to the Executive, still a very low rhythm when considering the economy’s early 

stage of development along with a rapid pace of population growth. The IMF is more pessimistic, expecting a 

more modest acceleration towards 1.3 per cent. growth. What is more, the Fund’s outlook is equally dim in the 

medium term, expecting growth rates not larger than 1.5 per cent. until 2022. The EIU, on the other hand, forecasts 

2.1 per cent. growth in 2017, and a pace ranging from 2.4 per cent. to 2.7 per cent. in the following years up to 

2021. It is likely that growth is tilted more to the non-oil part of the economy, as the OPEC cuts mean that Angola 

will need to slightly reduce output instead of increasing it – meaning stagnating oil sector growth – while likely 

receiving a larger revenue from oil due to higher prices – thus allowing for more revenue to flow into the non-oil 

sector. The largest negative risk lies with a failure of the efficacy of the oil sector deal, resulting in a renewed 

drop in prices, due to a much larger relevance of non OPEC output, in particular, US shale oil; moreover, other 

more varied negative risks exist in the near future situation that might imperil the Issuer’s capacity to generate 

value from the Angolan market, namely some political uncertainty that could arouse related to the next general 

elections, to be held next August. 

In sectorial terms, according to the official scenario, growth will be larger in the energy (40.2 per cent.), 

agriculture (7.3 per cent.) and manufacturing (4.0 per cent.) sectors. In terms of the oil sector, output up until 

April averaged 1.60 mbd, a decrease of 9.7 per cent. in comparison with the same period of 2016.  

In dollars, in 2016, the goods balance improved 16 per cent. relative to the same period of 2015, as the decrease 

in imports (34 per cent.) surpassed the drop in exports (12 per cent.) – the performance of exports was supported 

by the increase in prices towards the end of the year, causing a 13 per cent. yoy increase in its value in Q4. 
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Net foreign reserves resumed their downward trajectory, after a stable period in the beginning of 2016, standing 

at USD 18.4 billion in April 2017, the lowest level since March 2011. The drop in export revenues against a 

backdrop of a steep fall in oil prices on the international markets is behind this trend, even though the 

implementation of proactive measures by the monetary authority – restrictions on withdrawals and transactions 

in foreign currency, currency devaluation, search for alternative external financing – helped to counter this 

tendency. There is a risk of further devaluation if this trend continues.  

Given the adverse external framework since mid-2014 due to the deep fall in oil prices, the monetary local 

authority (Banco Nacional de Angola, BNA) took a pre-emptive restrictive stance in an attempt to counter external 

accounts pressure as well as the upward trend in inflation. Accordingly, BNA raised its benchmark rate by 200 

basis points in 2015 and 500 basis points in 2016. Last move on the reference rate has been in June 2016 (+200 

basis points) to 16 per cent.; additionally, BNA took other restrictive measures, such as the increase in the 

mandatory reserves coefficient to 30 per cent. and several restrictions on imports. The end-May 2017 meeting of 

the Monetary Policy Committee brought the first sign of monetary easing, with the 2 p.p. drop of the absorption 

rate towards 5.25 per cent.. 

The apparent halt to the restrictive path of monetary policy was mainly due to an ongoing deceleration of the 

inflation rate, after having reached alarming values in 2016: annual inflation reached an average of 32 per cent. 

in 2016, with the year-on-year rise of prices amounting to 42 per cent. in December 2016. In the first months of 

2017, inflation has been decreasing: monthly inflation averaged 2.28 per cent. in these 4 months, much lower than 

the 2.98 per cent. average in 2016; moreover, annual inflation has decreased consecutively in each month of this 

year, having stood at 36.3 per cent. in April, still a significantly high value. Inflation is expected to moderate 

somewhat in 2017, although it should still stand well above the BNA interval target of 7 – 9 per cent., probably 

closer to around 30 per cent.. Besides the impact of the currency’s depreciation on imported prices, the higher 

inflation rate also reflects the scarcity of foreign currency caused by administrative restrictions imposed by the 

central bank as well as by the still artificially high exchange rate, which limits imports, in particular of food and 

raw materials. 

As of April 2017, total lending to the economy7 registered a 11 per cent. year-on-year (“yoy”) decrease, reflecting 

a 10 per cent. yoy drop in credit to the private sector. At the same time, total deposits recorded a -0.6 per cent. 

change yoy, with an increase in deposits denominated in local currency (+2.6 per cent. yoy) and a drop in deposits 

in foreign currency (-6.5 per cent.). 

                                                      
7 Source: Banco Nacional de Angola. 
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The kwanza is not freely convertible and may not, except in the limited circumstances, be exported from or 

imported into Angola. This means that cross-border payments and transfers need to be effected in foreign currency, 

which may result in an additional risk to the Issuer.  

The Issuer can give no assurance that it will be successful in Angola, Mozambique or any of the other international 

markets where it operates. The Issuer's international operations are exposed to the risk of adverse political, 

governmental or economic developments in the countries in which it operates. These factors could have a material 

adverse effect on the Issuer's financial condition, business and its results of operations.  

As of 31 December 2016, the contribution from international operations to consolidated net profit was € 166.3 

million, which corresponds to 16.1 per cent. growth when compared to the € 143.3 million contribution recorded 

in 2015. The main contributions to the profit from international activity corresponded: (i) to Banco de Fomento 

Angola’s (“BFA”) contribution of € 162.7 million, relating to the 50.1 per cent. appropriation of its individual 

profit (which corresponds to a 19.9 per cent. increase relative to 2015 (135.7 M.€)); and (ii) to Banco Comercial 

e de Investimentos’s (“BCI”) contribution of € 5.4 million, relating to the appropriation of its 30 per cent. of its 

individual net profit (equity accounted), which corresponds to a 43 per cent. yoy decrease. 

Regarding BFA, loan impairments in 2016 amounted to € 15.8 million, down from € 33.6 million relative to 2015. 

Loan impairments, after deducting recoveries (€ 2.2 million), totaled € 13.6 million and represented 1.05 per cent. 

of the average loan portfolio (1.88 per cent in  2015). At the end of 2016, credit at risk at BFA stood at € 72.7 

million which corresponded to 5.4 per cent. of the gross loan portfolio. Credit at risk was down € 14.4 million in 

relation to 31 December 2015 (adjusted for write-downs), which corresponded to 0.1 per cent. of the loan portfolio. 

Credit at risk cover by accumulated loan provisions in the balance sheet decreased from 122 per cent. in 2015 to 

108 per cent. at the end of 2016. 

 

Loan impairments 

    
In million €, consolidation currency (M.€) 

    Dec. 15 
% of loan 

portfolio1 
Dec. 16 

% of loan 

portfolio1 

Loan impairments  1 33.6 1.99% 15.8 1.21% 

(-) Recoveries of loans in arrears written off 2 
1.9 0.11% 2.2 0.17% 

Loan impairments net of recoveries [=1 - 2]  3 31.7 1.88% 13.6 1.05% 

1) Average balance of performing loans. In annualised terms. 

Source: Banco BPI 2016 consolidated results” 

 

6. The fourth paragraph of the risk factor under the heading “Financial sector regulation”, which could be found 

on page 13 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely deleted and replaced as follows: 

“Article 45 of Directive 2014/59/UE, of 15 May 2014 establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of 

credit institutions and investment firms (the “EU Crisis Management Directive”, the “BRRD” or the “Bank 

Recovery and Resolution Directive”) provides that Member States shall ensure that institutions meet, at all times, 

a minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (known as MREL). The MREL shall be calculated as 

the amount of own funds and eligible liabilities expressed as a percentage of the total liabilities and own funds of 

the institution. The EBA was in charge of drafting regulatory technical standards on the criteria for determining 

MREL (the "MREL RTS"), which was set up in the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2016/1450 of 23 May 
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2016 with regard to regulatory technical standards specifying the criteria relating to the methodology for setting 

the minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (the "Delegated Regulation"). 

The level of capital and eligible liabilities required under MREL will be set by the resolution authority for each 

bank (and/or group) based on certain criteria including systemic importance. Eligible liabilities may be senior or 

subordinated, provided, among other requirements, that they have a remaining maturity of at least one year and, 

if governed by non-EU law, they must be able to be written down or converted under that law (including through 

contractual provisions). 

The MREL requirement was scheduled to come into force by January 2016. However, the EBA has recognised the 

impact which this requirement may have on banks’ funding structures and costs. Therefore, it has proposed a long 

phase-in period of 48 months (four years) until 2020. 

If the resolution authority finds that there could exist any obstacles to resolvability by the Issuer, a higher MREL 

requirement could be imposed. Any failure by the Issuer to comply with its MREL may have a material adverse 

effect on the Issuer’s business, financial conditions and results of operations. 

As part of the EU banking reforms, the EC published on 23 November 2016 a proposal for a Directive of the 

European Parliament and the Council on amendments to the BRRD as regards the ranking of unsecured debt 

instruments in insolvency hierarchy (the MREL Proposal). The MREL Proposal proposes to harmonise national 

laws on recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms, in particular as regards their loss-

absorbency and recapitalisation capacity in resolution and proposes the creation of a new asset class of "non-

preferred" senior debt that should only be bailed-in after other capital instruments but before other senior 

liabilities. The MREL Proposal anticipates that Member States will transpose the proposed amendments into the 

BRRD in their national laws by approximately June 2017 and that banks to which the amendments apply will have 

to comply with the amended rules by approximately July 2017.” 

 

7. The risk factor under the heading “The fulfilment of both the current and future capital requirements as set out 

by the European authorities and by the Bank of Portugal could lead BPI Group to attract additional capital and/or 

to face adverse consequences”, which could be found on page 15 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely deleted 

and replaced as follows: 

“The own funds requirements’ represent a measure of the activity risk, notably of the credit risk, market (currency 

and trading portfolio risks included) and operational risks, which are calculated according to the prudential 

regulations in force. 

Regarding credit risk, the Issuer’s Group applies the standard approach to obtain the prudential capital 

requirements. As to the operational risk, the Issuer’s Group uses the basic indicator approach. The capital should 

not only cover the applicable requirements on current activity (such as the solvability ratio requirements and any 

other requirements imposed by the supervisory authorities) but also take into account the strategic needs of 

growth, subject to market conditions (such as the cost of capital and cost of debt) as well as preserve a solid 

reputation among its customers, shareholders and other stakeholders. 

The own funds required to meet those objectives are calculated taking into account the financial statements of the 

Issuer, pursuant to the applicable law or regulations in force. Basel III Recommendations were enacted as 

European Union law through the CRD IV and the CRR. CRR is directly applicable to the Member States since 1 

January 2014 and includes provisions regarding, for instance, own funds requirements, minimum capital ratios, 
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liquidity ratios. 

Regarding capital ratios, the banks were obliged to a minimum compliance with a gradually increase until 1 

January 2019. 

Pilar 1 minimum requirements stand at 4.5 per cent. for Core Tier 1, 6 per cent. For Tier 1 and 8 per cent. For 

total capital ratio. 

CRD IV includes general rules and supervision powers, wages, governance and disclosure requirements as well 

as an introduction of 5 additional capital buffers: 

• A capital conservation buffer of 2.5 per cent. of risk-weight assets; 

• Countercyclical capital buffer rate between 0 and 2.5 per cent. of Core Tier 1 assets, pursuant to the 

conditions to be established by the competent authorities; 

• Systemic risk buffer: i) applicable to the institutions with a global systemic importance: between 1 and 3.5 

per cent.; ii) applicable to other institutions with a systemic importance: between 0 and 2 per cent.; and 

iii) macroprudential systemic risk: between 1 and 3 per cent. or between 3 and 5 per cent., depending on 

the economical conjecture. 

These buffers, apart from the macroprudential systemic risk, were determined to apply gradually from 2016, 

although the Member States could anticipate this. 

The Bank of Portugal, in the exercise of its powers as national macro-prudential authority, has set the 

countercyclical buffer rate at 0 per cent. of the total risk exposure amount, which started in 1 January 2016. This 

buffer applies to all credit exposures to the domestic private non-financial sector of credit institutions and 

investments firms in Portugal subject to the supervision of Bank of Portugal or the ECB (Single Supervisory 

Mechanism), as applicable. The Bank of Portugal reviews this decision on a quarterly basis. 

Considering the minimum capital levels already defined on both the CRR and CRD IV, banks shall comply with: 

• Minimum CET 1 ratio: 7 per cent. (4.5 per cent. base value and an additional 2.5 per cent. of capital 

conservation buffer); 

• Minimum Tier 1 ratio: 8.5 per cent. (6 per cent. base value and an additional 2.5 per cent. capital 

conservation buffer); 

• Total ratio: 10.5 per cent. (8.0 per cent. base value and an additional 2.5 per cent. capital conservation 

buffer). 

The CRD IV has been transposed in Portugal by Decree-Law no. 157/2014 which has amended several laws and 

decree-laws, including the General Regime for Credit Institutions and Financial Companies (“RGICSF”, enacted 

by Decree-Law no. 298/92, dated 31 December, as amended from time to time). These were accompanied by the 

entry into force of Bank of Portugal's Notice No. 6/2013, of 23 December 2013, which established how the 

transitional provisions of the CRD IV would apply to minimum capital requirements and the respective calculation. 

A 5 year transitory period was projected in order to adapt the previous applicable rules to the new regulations. 

As of 31 March 2017, the Issuer’s consolidated Common Equity Tier 1 (CET I) ratio calculated according to CRD 

IV / CRR rules stood at: 

• CET1 phasing in (rules for 2017): 11.9 per cent., and  

• CET1 fully implemented: 10.8 cent.. 
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Source: Banco BPI’s first quarter 2017 consolidated Interim Report (unaudited) 

According to the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP) decision for 2017, the following are the 

minimum capital ratios that BPI has to meet from 1 January 2017: 

 

 

At 31 March 2017 the Issuer complies with all new SREP minimum capital ratios. 

To comply with the total capital ratio of 12.0 per cent. (minimum SREP of 11.75 per cent. + 0.25 per cent. buffer), 

new 300 M.€ of Tier II subordinated debt was issued in March 2017. This issue has a remuneration rate equivalent 

to Euribor + 5.74 per cent. and was fully subscribed by Caixabank.” 

 

8. The second paragraph of the risk factor under the heading “Credit Risk”, which could be found on page 28 of 

the Base Prospectus, has been entirely deleted and replaced as follows: 
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“Maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2016, by type of financial instrument, is as follows:  

  
1 This caption is presented in the balance sheet as financial assets held for trading and at fair value through 

profit or loss. 

 

Source: the Issuer’s 2016 Report” 

 

9. The last two paragraphs under the heading “Liquidity Risk”, which could be found on page 31 of the Base 

Prospectus, have been deleted and replaced as follows: 

“The rules on asset eligibility for Eurosystem operations were made more flexible, allowing for the creation of 

portfolios made up of mortgage, corporate loans and consumer credit. As of 31 December 2016, the Issuer had a 

portfolio of assets eligible for obtaining funding from the ECB, totalling € 6.1billion net of ECB valuation margins.  

The Issuer continuously tracks the evolution of its liquidity, monitoring incoming and outgoing funds in real time. 

Projections of short and medium term liquidity are carried out in order to help plan the funding strategy in the 

monetary and capital markets. Total funding obtained by the Issuer from the ECB amounted to € 2 billion at the 

end of December 2016, corresponding entirely to funds raised under the TLTRO (Targeted Longer-term 

Refinancing Operations).The refinancing needs for medium and long-term debt up till the end of 2021, net of 

redemptions in the bonds portfolio, are € 51 million.” 

 

10. The third paragraph under the heading “Counterparty Risk”, which could be found on page 32 of the Base 

Prospectus, has been entirely deleted and replaced as follows: 

“As of 31st March 2017 credit risk exposures of the consolidated position are spread across a wide range of private 

individuals (39.4 percent), small and medium-sized enterprises (17.1 percent), industrial counterparties (7.0 

percent), and financial institutions (2.7 percent). Exposure is mainly to Euro Zone residents (97.3 percent) with 

EU other countries (0.6 percent) and Other Countries (2.1 percent). The majority of exposure is to Portuguese 

counterparties (89.0 percent), but there is also significant exposure to Spanish counterparties (3.6 percent) and 

Gross Net

book Impairment book

value value

Balance sheet items

Deposits at other credit institutions  300 190  300 190

2 017 992 2 017 992

Financial assets available for sale 3 983 429 (106 995) 3 876 434

Loans and advances to credit institutions  637 607  637 607

Loans and advances to customers 23 430 958 (695 200) 22 735 758

Held to maturity investments  16 317  16 317

Derivatives   

Hedging derivatives  25 802  25 802

Trading derivatives1
 179 921  179 921

30 592 216 (802 195) 29 790 021

Off balance sheet items

Guarantees provided 1 294 856 (21 194) 1 273 662

Irrevocable credit lines  1 356 ( 1)  1 355

Commercial Paper underwritting agreement  409 638 (1 278)  408 360

1 705 850 (22 473) 1 683 377

32 298 066 (824 668) 31 473 398

Financial assets held for trading and at fair value 

through profit or loss

Type

of financial

instrument



 

 15 

relevant exposure to international financial institutions (1.8 percent – Spanish financial institutions adding only 

0.06 per cent to this value).” 

 

11. The first paragraph of the risk factor under the heading “Impact of regulatory changes”, which could be found 

on page 34 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely deleted and replaced as follow: 

“The Issuer is subject to financial services laws, regulations, administrative actions and policies in each location 

where it operates. Changes in supervision and regulation, in particular in the European Union and/or in Portugal, 

could materially affect the Issuer's business, the products and services it offers and/or the value of its assets. 

Although the Issuer works closely with its regulators and continually monitors the situation, future changes in 

regulation, fiscal or other policies can be unpredictable and are beyond the control of the Issuer.” 

 

12. The risk factor under the heading “Rating Risk”, which could be found on page 34 of the Base Prospectus, has 

been entirely deleted and replaced as follow: 

“Credit rating agencies regularly assess the Issuer and its credit risk of long-term debt is based on a diverse 

number of factors, including its financial performance, the rating of the Republic of Portugal, and the conditions 

affecting the sector in general and the Portuguese banking system in particular. 

The credit ratings (long term / short term) and Outlook of the Issuer are: 

• S&P: BB+/ B with stable outlook. The last revision occurred on 13 February 2017; 

• Moody's: Ba3/Not Prime with stable outlook. The last revision occurred on 18 January 2017; 

• Fitch: BBB-/F3 with positive outlook. The last revision occurred on 21 June 2017. 

On 18 January 2017, Moody’s confirmed the following ratings of the Issuer: (1) The Ba3 long-term senior debt 

and deposit ratings; and (2) the baseline credit assessment (BCA) of b1. At the same time, the rating agency has 

upgraded the following ratings: (1) the subordinated debt ratings to B1 from B2; (2) the junior subordinated 

programme ratings to (P)B2 from (P)B3; (3) the backed preference shares rating to B3(hyb) from Caa1(hyb); (4) 

the bank's adjusted BCA to ba3 from b1; and (5) its long-term Counterparty Risk Assessment (CRA) to Ba1 (cr) 

from Ba2(cr The outlook on the bank's long-term senior debt and deposit ratings is stable. 

On 13 February 2017, S&P upgraded the long-term counterparty credit ratings of the Issuer to BB+ from BB- 

and affirmed the 'B' short-term ratings, with stable outlook 

On 21 June 2017, Fitch confirmed the Issuer's Long-Term Issuer Default Rating (IDR) at BBB- and the Short-

Term IDRat F3. The outlook was revised to positive from stable. 

The current long-term ratings assigned to the Issuer by Moody's is two notches below the level of the Republic of 

Portugal (Ba1 with stable outlook). Fitch rating is one notch above the rating of the Republic of Portugal (BB+ 

with positive outlook). In the case of S&P, the rating of the Issuer is at the same level of the Republic of Portugal 

(BB+ with stable outlook). 

To the extent that there are reductions on the rating of the Republic of Portugal by the rating agencies it is likely 

that they affect bank ratings. Such events may result in the application of higher haircuts to assets eligible for 

refinancing of banks with the ECB leading to a reduction of the eligible amount of all such assets. 

There is no guarantee of maintenance of the current credit ratings assigned to the Issuer credit. Additional 

lowering of the credit ratings of the Issuer may have implications on credit ratings of collateralized debt issued by 
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the Issuer which, in turn, can affect the portfolio of assets eligible for funding from the Eurosystem and increase 

the cost of the Issuer resources.” 

 

13. The risk factor under the heading “Currency risk in International operations”, which could be found on page 

35 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely deleted and replaced as follow: 

“International operations are exposed to foreign exchange risk, which is reflected mainly in the statements of 

income and in the balance sheets of the respective subsidiaries of the Issuer’s Group, for the purpose of 

consolidation. It is relevant for this purposes the changes in the exchange rates of local currencies against the 

euro and in the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar against the euro, due to the high use of the U.S. dollar in these 

economies, which explains that a significant share of business customer is expressed in U.S. dollars. 

Consequently, even if the amount of revenues, costs and profits of the Issuer’s Group remain unchanged in local 

currency, changes in exchange rates may affect the amount of income, costs and profits declared in the statement 

of income of the Issuer’s Group. The currency exposure of the Issuer results mainly from the banking activity of 

BFA in Angola, but also, although to a much lesser extent, the activity of BCI in Mozambique. The currency of 

Angola is the Kwanza, but the high use of the U.S. dollar in the Angolan economy explains that a considerable 

share of business with clients of BFA is expressed in U.S. dollars.  

As of 31 December 2016, 31 per cent of deposits and 43 per cent of the loan portfolio was denominated in U.S. 

dollars: 

• Customer resources captured in U.S. dollars decreased by 23 per cent. yoy and Customer resources in 

kwanzas (representing 65 per cent of total resources) increased by 10 per cent. yoy. When expressed in 

euros Customer resources decreased 15 per cent. yoy.  

• The loan portfolio in U.S. dollars decreased by 15 per cent. yoy and the loan portfolio in kwanzas (57 per 

cent of the total) increased by 8 per cent. yoy. When expressed in euros Loan portfolio decreased 15 per 

cent. yoy.  

A substantial portion of revenue and costs are thus expressed in U.S. dollars or indexed to it. 

If the value of the euro was to rise significantly against other currencies, especially the U.S. dollar and the Kwanza, 

the values of balance sheet and statement of income items expressed in these currencies would translate into 

relatively lower values when converted to euros.” 

 

14. The risk factor under the heading “Risks relating to CaixaBank’s general tender offer”, which could be found 

on page 40 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely deleted and replaced as follow: 

“The results of the general and mandatory tender offer (the “Offer”), announced by CaixaBank (the “Offeror) on 

21st September 2016 for the acquisition of the shares representing the share capital of Banco BPI were disclosed 

on 8th February 2017, according to which the Offeror acquired 39,02 per cent. voting rights in the context of the 

Offer, reaching 84,52 per cent. of the voting rights of Banco BPI. 

CaixaBank has identified, in the prospectus of the Offer, certain potential synergies which CaixaBank believes 

may be achievable with the success of the Offer, including, among others, streamlining of operational processes 

at a head office level, scale benefits, with joint procedures for the award of public contracts, IT infrastructures 

and architecture optimization and subcontracting several back-office services, distribution channels, product and 

other services and functions development with top Offeror associates, at a low cost. 
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Whilst CaixaBank believes the underlying assumptions on which it has based its estimates are reasonable, the 

degree of its success in achieving such synergies remains subject to uncertainties and could vary significantly. 

There can be no assurance that such potential synergies or other anticipated benefits will be realised in the near 

future.” 

 

15. The last paragraph under the heading “EU Savings Directive, OECD CRS and Directive 2014/107/EU”, 

which could be found on pages 43 and 165 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“Under the Portuguese CRS Law, the first exchange of information is due by the 31st July 2017 for information 

related to the calendar year 2016. For calendar year 2017 and the subsequent years, exchange of information is 

due by the 31st July 2018 and the 31st July of the following years.” 

 

16. The heading “US Foreign Account Tax Compliance Withholding”, which could be found on page 44 of the 

Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“US Foreign Account Tax Compliance Withholding and Reporting”. 

 

17. The last sentence of the last paragraph of the heading “US Foreign Account Tax Compliance Withholding”, 

which could be found on page 44 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“Under the Portuguese FATCA framework, the exchange of information regarding information related to calendar 

years 2014 and 2015 was due the 30th September 2016. For the following calendar years reporting is due by the 

31st July”. 

 

18. The first paragraph of the heading “(a) Form and Transfer of the Covered Bonds”, which could be found on 

page 48 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“Covered Bonds held through accounts of Interbolsa Participants will be represented in dematerialised book-entry 

form (“forma escritural”) and may be registered Covered Bonds (“nominativas”).” 

 

D. GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME 

The first paragraph of the heading “GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME”, which could be found 

on page 50 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“Under this Programme, the Issuer may from time to time issue Covered Bonds denominated in any currency 

agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, subject as set out herein. The applicable terms of any Covered 

Bonds will be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer prior to the issue of those Covered Bonds and 

will be set out in the Terms and Conditions of the Covered Bonds applicable to the Covered Bonds as modified and 

supplemented by the applicable final terms attached to, or endorsed on, such Covered Bonds (the “Final Terms”), 

as more fully described under Final Terms of the Covered Bonds below.” 

 

E. RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENTS 

 

The fourth paragraph under the heading “Responsibility Statements”, which could be found on page 52 of the Base 

Prospectus, has been amended and supplemented with the insertion of the following: 
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“The Statutory Auditor of the Issuer has also audited and expressed an opinion on the financial statements of the 

Issuer for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 (see General Information). The Certification of Accounts 

and Auditor’s Reports referring to the above financial period are incorporated by reference in this Covered Bonds 

Base Prospectus (see Documents Incorporated by Reference and General Information).” 

 

F. DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE 

1. On page 55 of the Base Prospectus, the first paragraph has been amended and supplemented with the insertion 

of the following: 

“(f) the Portuguese version of the Issuer’s consolidated Annual Report in respect of the financial year ended on 

31 December 2016; 

(g) the Portuguese version of the Issuer’s unaudited consolidated information for the first quarter 2017.” 

The documents referred above are available for consultation at www.cmvm.pt. 

 

2. On page 55 of the Base Prospectus, the last paragraph has been amended and supplemented with the insertion 

of the following: 

“The table below refers to points (a), (b), (d), (f) and (g): 

BANCO BPI  

Information Incorporated by Reference Reference 

Unaudited consolidated information for the first quarter 2017 

Consolidated Balance Sheets (Balanços consolidados em 

31 de Março de 2017 e 31 de Dezembro de 2016)  

30 

Consolidated Statements of Income (Demonstrações 

consolidadas intercalares dos resultados para os 

períodos findos em 31 de Março de 2017 e 2016 

proforma)  

31 

Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss and other 

Comprehensive Income (Demonstrações consolidadas 

intercalares dos resultados e de outro rendimento integral 

para os períodos findos em 31 de Março de 2017 e 2016 

proforma) 

32 

Statements of changes in shareholders' equity 

(Demonstrações consolidadas intercalares de alterações 

nos capitais próprios para os períodos findos em 31 de 

Março de 2017 e 2016 proforma) 

33 

Consolidated Statements of Cash flows (demonstrações 

consolidadas dos fluxos de caixa para os exercícios findos 

em 31 de Março de 2017 e 2016 proforma) 

34 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Notas às 

demonstrações financeiras consolidada intercalares em 

31 de Março de 2017 e 2016) 

35 - 102 

Annual Report 2016 

Consolidated Balance Sheets (Balanços consolidados em 

31 de Dezembro de 2016 e 2015) 

166 

Consolidated Statements of Income (Demonstrações 

consolidadas dos resultados para os exercícios findos em 

31 de Dezembro de 2016 e 2015 proforma) 

167 
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Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss and other 

Comprehensive Income (Demonstrações consolidadas 

dos resultados e de outro rendimento integral para os 

exercícios findos em 31 de Dezembro de 2016 e 2015 

proforma) 

168 

Statements of changes in shareholders' equity 

(Demonstrações consolidadas de alterações nos capitais 

próprios para os exercícios findos em 31 de Dezembro de 

2016 e 2015 proforma) 

169 

Consolidated Statements of Cash flows (Demonstrações 

consolidadas dos fluxos de caixa para os exercícios findos 

em 31 de Dezembro de 2016 e 2015 proforma) 

170 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Notas às 

demonstrações financeiras consolidadas em 31 de 

Dezembro de 2016 e 2015) 

171 - 364 

Auditors report (Certificação Legal de contas e relatório 

de auditoria) 

366 - 376 

 

G. FORM OF THE COVERED BONDS AND CLEARING SYSTEMS 

The paragraphs under the heading “FORM OF THE COVERED BONDS AND CLEARING SYSTEMS”, which 

could be found on page 59 of the Base Prospectus, have been entirely replaced as follow: 

“The Covered Bonds will be held through a central securities depositary (“CSD”) which will be Portuguese 

domestic CSD, Interbolsa - Sociedade Gestora de Sistemas de Liquidação e de Sistemas Centralizados de Valores 

Mobiliários, S.A. as operator of the Central de Valores Mobiliários (“Interbolsa”). 

The information set out below is subject to any change in or reinterpretation of the rules, regulations and 

procedures of Interbolsa currently in effect. The information in this section concerning Interbolsa has been 

obtained from sources that the Issuer believes to be reliable, but none of the Issuer, the Arranger or the Dealer 

takes any responsibility for the accuracy thereof. Investors wishing to use the facilities of any of Interbolsa are 

advised to confirm the continued applicability of its rules, regulations and procedures. None of the Issuer, the 

Arranger or the Dealer will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to, or 

payments made on account of, interests in the Covered Bonds held through the facilities of Interbolsa or for 

maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such interests. 

Interbolsa holds securities for its participants and facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities 

transactions by electronic book-entry transfer between their respective participants. Interbolsa provides various 

services including safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of domestically and internationally 

traded securities.  

The address of Interbolsa is Avenida da Boavista, 3433, 4100-138 Porto, Portugal.  

The Covered Bonds have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered or 

sold in the United States or to, or for the benefit of, US persons unless an exemption from the registration 

requirements of the Securities Act is available or in a transaction not subject to the registration requirements of 

the Securities Act (see Subscription and Sale and Secondary Market Arrangements). Accordingly, the Covered 

Bonds will only be issued outside the United States in reliance upon Regulation S under the Securities Act. 

 

General 
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Covered Bonds must be held through Interbolsa when the relevant issue is to be admitted to trading in a Portuguese 

regulated market (in particular, Euronext Lisbon). 

Interbolsa manages a centralised system (“sistema centralizado”) composed by interconnected securities 

accounts, through which securities (and inherent rights) are created, held and transferred, and which allows 

Interbolsa to control at all times the amount of securities so created, held and transferred. Issuers of securities, 

financial intermediaries, the Bank of Portugal and Interbolsa, as the controlling entity, all participate in such 

centralised system.  

The centralised securities system of Interbolsa provides for all the procedures required for the exercise of 

ownership rights inherent to the covered bonds held through Interbolsa. 

In relation to each issue of securities, Interbolsa’s centralised system comprises, inter alia, (i) the issue account, 

opened by the relevant issuer in the centralised system and which reflects the full amount of issued securities; and 

(ii) the control accounts opened by each of the financial intermediaries which participate in Interbolsa’s 

centralised system, and which reflect the securities held by such participant on behalf of its customers in 

accordance with its individual securities accounts. 

Covered Bonds held through Interbolsa will be attributed an International Securities Identification Number 

(“ISIN”) code through the codification system of Interbolsa and will be accepted for clearing through 

LCH.Clearnet, S.A., as well as through the clearing systems operated by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg 

and settled by Interbolsa’s settlement system. Under the procedures of Interbolsa’s settlement system, settlement 

of trades executed through Euronext Lisbon takes place on the second Business Day after the trade date and is 

provisional until the financial settlement that takes place at the Bank of Portugal on the Final Settlement Date. 

 

Form of the Covered Bonds  

The Covered Bonds of each Series will be in book-entry form and title to the Covered Bonds will be evidenced by 

book entries in accordance with the provisions of the Portuguese Securities Code and the applicable CMVM 

regulations. No physical document of title will be issued in respect of Covered Bonds held through Interbolsa. The 

Covered Bonds will be registered Covered Bonds (“nominativas”). 

The Covered Bonds of each Series will be registered in the relevant issue account opened by the Issuer with 

Interbolsa and will be held in control accounts by each Interbolsa Participant on behalf of the holders of the 

Covered Bonds. Such control accounts reflect at all times the aggregate of Covered Bonds held in the individual 

securities accounts opened by the holders of the Covered Bonds with each of the Interbolsa Participants. The 

expression “Interbolsa Participant” means any authorised financial intermediary entitled to hold control 

accounts with Interbolsa on behalf of their customers and includes any depository banks appointed by Euroclear 

and Clearstream, Luxembourg for the purpose of holding accounts on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, 

Luxembourg. 

Each person shown in the records of an Interbolsa Participant as being the holder of certain Covered Bonds is 

considered to be the owner of such Covered Bonds as recorded therein. 

Registering the Covered Bonds with Interbolsa does not necessary mean that the Covered Bonds will be recognised 

as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either 

upon issue, or at any or all times during their life, as such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the 

Eurosystem eligibility criteria. 



 

 21 

 

Payment of principal and interest in respect of Covered Bonds  

Payment of principal and interest in Euros in respect of the Covered Bonds will be (i) credited, according to the 

procedures and regulations of Interbolsa, by the Paying Agent (acting on behalf of the Issuer) to the payment 

current-accounts held in the payment system of the Bank of Portugal by the Interbolsa Participants whose control 

accounts with Interbolsa are credited with such Covered Bonds and thereafter (ii) credited by such Interbolsa 

Participants from the aforementioned payment current-accounts to the accounts of the owners of those Covered 

Bonds or to the accounts with Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg of the beneficial owners of those Covered 

Bonds, as applicable, in accordance with the rules and procedures of Interbolsa, Euroclear or Clearstream, 

Luxembourg, as the case may be. 

The Issuer must provide Interbolsa with a prior notice of all payments in relation to Covered Bonds and all 

necessary information for that purpose. In particular, such notice must contain: 

(a) the identity of the Paying Agent responsible for the relevant payment; and 

(b) a statement of acceptance of such responsibility by the Paying Agent. 

The Interbolsa Participant must inform Interbolsa of the bank accounts to which the relevant payments shall be 

made. Interbolsa must notify the Bank of Portugal of the amounts to be settled, which Interbolsa calculates on the 

basis of the balances and on the tax rules governing the accounts of the Interbolsa Participants. 

In the case of a partial payment, the amount held in the current account of the Paying Agent with the Bank of 

Portugal must be apportioned pro-rata across the Covered Bonds and therefore credited in the securities accounts 

held by the holders of Covered Bonds with the Interbolsa Participant. After the financial settlement has been 

processed, the Bank of Portugal must confirm that fact to Interbolsa. 

 

Transfer of Covered Bonds  

Covered Bonds may, subject to compliance with all applicable rules, restrictions and requirements of Interbolsa 

and Portuguese law, be transferred to a person who wishes to hold such Covered Bonds. No owner of a Covered 

Bond will be able to transfer such Covered Bond, except in accordance with Portuguese Law and the applicable 

procedures of Interbolsa.” 

 

H. FINAL TERMS OF THE COVERED BONDS 

1. Section 5 of “PART A – CONTRATUAL TERMS” of the heading “FINAL TERMS OF THE COVERED 

BONDS”, which could be found on page 66 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“5. Specified Denominations: 

 

[●] 

(N.B. the minimum denomination of each Covered Bond 

is €100,000)” 

2. Section 23 of “PART A – CONTRATUAL TERMS” of the heading “FINAL TERMS OF THE COVERED 

BONDS”, which could be found on page 66 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“23. Form of Covered Bonds: Registered Covered Bonds” 

3. Section 25, 26 and 32 of “PART A – CONTRATUAL TERMS” of the heading “FINAL TERMS OF THE 

COVERED BONDS”, which could be found on page 66 of the Base Prospectus, have been entirely deleted. 
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4. Section 27, 28, 29, 30, 31 and 33 of “PART A – CONTRATUAL TERMS” of the heading “FINAL TERMS OF 

THE COVERED BONDS”, which could be found on page 66 of the Base Prospectus, have been renumbered 25, 

26, 27, 28, 29 and 30 respectively. 

5. Section 6. Operational Information  of “PART B – OTHER INFORMATION” of the heading “FINAL TERMS 

OF THE COVERED BONDS”, which could be found on page 76 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced 

as follow: 

 ISIN Code: [●] 

 Common Code: [●] 

 Delivery: Delivery [against/free of] payment 

 Names and addresses of additional Paying 

Agent(s) (if any): 

[●] 

 [Intended to be held in a manner which 

would allow Eurosystem eligibility:] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Stabilization Operation   

 

[[Yes] [No] 

[Note that the designation “yes” simply means that the 

Covered Bonds are intended upon issue to be registered 

with Interbolsa – Sociedade Gestora de Sistemas de 

Liquidação e de Sistemas Centralizados de Valores 

Mobiliários, S.A. in its capacity as a securities 

settlement system, and does not necessarily mean that 

the Covered Bonds will be recognised as eligible 

collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-

day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon 

issue or at any or all times during their life. Such 

recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the 

Eurosystem eligibility criteria.] 

 

[Not Applicable] 

[Applicable] 

[If applicable; 

Stabilising Manager; 

Period; 

Other information]” 

 

 

I. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS 

1. The first eleventh paragraphs of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, 

which could be found on page 81 of the Base Prospectus, have been entirely replaced as follow: 

“The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Covered Bonds. The applicable Final Terms in relation to 

any Tranche of Covered Bonds may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or 

to the extent inconsistent with the following Terms and Conditions, replace or modify the following Terms and 

Conditions for the purpose of such Covered Bonds and shall be included in a supplement prepared by the Issuer 

for such purpose. The applicable Final Terms (or the relevant provisions thereof) will be incorporated by reference 

or endorsed upon, or attached to, each Covered Bond. Reference should be made to ‘‘Final Terms of the Covered 

Bonds’’ for a description of the content of Final Terms which will specify which of such terms are to apply in 

relation to the relevant Covered Bonds. 
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THE COVERED BONDS (AS DEFINED IN THESE TERMS AND CONDITIONS) ARE MORTGAGE COVERED BONDS 

(“OBRIGAÇÕES HIPOTECÁRIAS”) ISSUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COVERED BONDS LAW (AS DEFINED). THE 

ISSUER (AS DEFINED IN THESE TERMS AND CONDITIONS) IS A CREDIT INSTITUTION WITH THE CAPACITY TO ISSUE 

COVERED BONDS PURSUANT TO THE COVERED BONDS LAW. THE FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER UNDER 

THE COVERED BONDS LAW ARE SECURED ON THE ASSETS THAT COMPRISE THE COVER POOL (AS DEFINED BELOW) 

MAINTAINED BY THE ISSUER IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COVERED BONDS LAW. 

References herein to the Covered Bonds shall be references to the Covered Bonds of this Series and shall mean 

the book-entries corresponding to the units of the lowest Specified Denomination in the Specified Currency. 

The Covered Bonds have the benefit of a set of agency and payments procedures (such agency and payments 

procedures as amended and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the “Agency and Payments 

Procedures”) dated 30th April 2008 and made and agreed by Banco BPI, S.A. (acting in its capacity as Agent, 

which expression shall include any successor) and by any subsequent agent, paying agent, transfer agent and/or 

agent bank. 

Any reference to “holders of Covered Bonds” shall mean the person or entity registered as such in the relevant 

securities account.  

As used herein, “Tranche” means Covered Bonds which are identical in all respects (including as to listing) and 

“Series” means a Tranche of Covered Bonds together with any further Tranche or Tranches of Covered Bonds 

which are (i) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series and (ii) identical in all respects (including as 

to listing) except for their respective Issue Dates, Interest Commencement Dates, interest rates and/or Issue Prices. 

Copies of the Agency and Payments Procedures are available for inspection during normal business hours at the 

specified office of the Paying Agent. Copies of the applicable Final Terms are obtainable at the CMVM’s website 

– www.cmvm.pt – and during normal business hours at the specified office of the Paying Agent save that, if these 

Covered Bonds are unlisted, the applicable Final Terms will only be obtainable at the specified office of the Paying 

Agent by a holder holding one or more unlisted Covered Bonds and such holder must produce evidence satisfactory 

to the Issuer and the relevant Agent as to its holding of such Covered Bonds and identity. The Covered Bonds 

holders are deemed to have notice of, and are entitled to the benefit of, all the provisions of the Agency and 

Payments Procedures and the applicable Final Terms which are applicable to them. The statements in these Terms 

and Conditions include summaries of, and are subject to, the detailed provisions of the Agency and Payments 

Procedures. 

Words and expressions defined in the Agency and Payments Procedures or used in the applicable Final Terms 

shall have the same meanings where used in these Terms and Conditions unless the context otherwise requires or 

unless otherwise stated and provided that, in the event of inconsistency between the Agency and Payments 

Procedures and the applicable Final Terms, the applicable Final Terms will prevail. 

As used herein, outstanding means in relation to the Covered Bonds all the Covered Bonds issued other than: 

(a) those Covered Bonds which have been redeemed and cancelled pursuant to these Terms and Conditions;  

(b) those Covered Bonds in respect of which the date for redemption under these Terms and Conditions has 

occurred and the redemption moneys (including all interest (if any) accrued to the date for redemption 

and any interest (if any) payable under these Terms and Conditions after that date) have been duly paid 

to or to the order of the Agent in the manner provided in the Agency and Payments Procedures (and, 

where appropriate, notice to that effect has been given to the Covered Bonds holders in accordance with 
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these Terms and Conditions) and remain available for payment against presentation of the relevant 

Covered Bonds; 

(c) those Covered Bonds which have been purchased and cancelled under these Terms and Conditions; 

(d) those Covered Bonds which have become prescribed under these Terms and Conditions;  

(e)  (for the purpose only of ascertaining the principal amount of the Covered Bonds outstanding and without 

prejudice to the status for any other purpose of the relevant Covered Bonds) those Covered Bonds which 

are alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed and in respect of which replacements have been issued 

under these Terms and Conditions.” 

 

2. Section 1 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named “Form, 

Denomination and Title”, which could be found on page 83 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as 

follow: 

“The Covered Bonds are in registered (nominativas) form and in the Specified Currency and the Specified 

Denomination(s). Covered Bonds of one Specified Denomination may not be exchanged for Covered Bonds of 

another Specified Denomination. 

The Covered Bonds will be in book-entry (escriturais) form and title to the Covered Bonds will be evidenced by 

book entries in accordance with the provisions of Portuguese Securities Code and the applicable CMVM 

regulations. No physical document of title will be issued in respect of the Covered Bonds. Each person shown in 

the records of an Interbolsa Participant as having an interest in Covered Bonds shall be treated as the holder of 

the principal amount of the Covered Bonds recorded therein. 

This Covered Bond may be a Fixed Rate Covered Bond, a Floating Rate Covered Bond or a Zero Coupon Covered 

Bond, depending upon the Interest Basis shown in the applicable Final Terms. 

Where the applicable Final Terms specifies that an Extended Maturity Date applies to a Series of Covered Bonds, 

those Covered Bonds may be Fixed Rate Covered Bonds or Floating Rate Covered Bonds in respect of the period 

from the Issue Date to and including the Maturity Date and Fixed Rate Covered Bonds, Floating Rate Covered 

Bonds in respect of the period from the Maturity Date up to and including the Extended Maturity Date, subject as 

specified in the applicable Final Terms. 

This Covered Bond may be an Instalment Covered Bond depending upon the Redemption/Payment Basis shown in 

the applicable Final Terms. 

 

3. Section 2 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named “Transfer of 

Covered Bonds”, which could be found on page 84 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“The transferability of the Covered Bonds is not restricted.  

Covered Bonds may, subject to compliance with all applicable rules, restrictions and requirements of Interbolsa 

and Portuguese law, be transferred to a person who wishes to hold such Covered Bond. No owner of a Covered 

Bond will be able to transfer such Covered Bond, except in accordance with Portuguese Law and with the 

applicable procedures of Interbolsa.  

The holders of Covered Bonds will not be required to bear the costs and expenses of effecting any registration of 

transfer as provided above, except for any costs or expenses of delivery other than by regular uninsured mail and 
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except that the Issuer may require the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any stamp duty, tax or other 

governmental charge that may be imposed in relation to the registration.” 

 

4. Section 3 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named “Status of the 

Covered Bonds”, which could be found on page 85 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“The Covered Bonds and any interest thereon, constitute direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and secured 

obligations of the Issuer and rank pari passu without any preference among themselves. The Covered Bonds are 

mortgage covered securities issued in accordance with the Covered Bonds Law, which are secured by the Cover 

Pool maintained by the Issuer in accordance with the terms of the Covered Bonds Law, and rank pari passu with 

all other obligations of the Issuer under mortgage covered bonds issued or to be issued by the Issuer pursuant to 

the Covered Bonds Law.” 

 

5. Section 4.3 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named “Accrual of 

interest”, which could be found on page 93 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“Subject as provided in Condition 4.4, interest (if any) will cease to accrue on each Covered Bond (or in the case 

of the redemption of part only of a Covered Bond, that part only of such Covered Bond) on the due date for 

redemption thereof unless, upon due presentation, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such 

event, interest will continue to accrue until (i) the date on which all amounts due in respect of such Covered Bond 

have been paid; and (ii) five days after the date on which the full amount of the moneys payable in respect of 

such Covered Bond has been received by the Agent, and notice to that effect has been given to the holders of Covered 

Bonds in accordance with Condition 11 (Notices).” 

 

6. The last paragraph of section 5.1 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, 

named “Method of payment”, which could be found on page 94 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced 

as follow: 

“Payments will be subject in all cases to Interbolsa regulations, fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable 

thereto in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 7 (Taxation).” 

 

7. Section 5.2 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named “Payments 

in relation to Covered Bonds held through Interbolsa”, which could be found on page 94 of the Base Prospectus, 

has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“5.2 Payments in relation to Covered Bonds  

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Covered Bonds may only be made in Euro, United States dollar, 

Japanese yen and Swiss franc until such date as Interbolsa accepts registration and clearing of securities 

denominated in currencies other than Euro, United States dollar, Japanese yen and Swiss franc. 

Payment of principal and interest in respect of the Covered Bonds will be (i) credited, according to the procedures 

and regulations of Interbolsa, by the Paying Agent (acting on behalf of the Issuer) to the payment current-accounts 

held in the payment system of the Bank of Portugal by the Interbolsa Participants whose control accounts with 

Interbolsa are credited with such Covered Bonds and thereafter (ii) credited by such Interbolsa Participants from 

the aforementioned payment current-accounts to the accounts of the owners of those Covered Bonds or to the 
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accounts with Euroclear and Clearstream Luxembourg of the beneficial owners of those Covered Bonds, as 

applicable, in accordance with the rules and procedures of Interbolsa, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, 

as the case may be.” 

 

8. Section 5.3, 5.4 and 5.5 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, which 

could be found on pages 95 o 96 of the Base Prospectus, have been entirely deleted. 

 

9. Section 5.6 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named “Payment 

Day”, which could be found on page 97 of the Base Prospectus, has been renumbered to 5.3 and has been entirely 

replaced as follow: 

“If the date for payment of any amount in respect of any Covered Bond is not a Payment Day, the holder thereof 

shall not be entitled to payment until the next following Payment Day in the relevant place and shall not be entitled 

to further interest or other payment in respect of such delay. For these purposes, “Payment Day” means any day 

which (subject to Condition 8 (Prescription)) is a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets 

settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency 

deposits) in: 

(i) the relevant place of presentation; or; 

(ii) any Additional Financial Centre specified in the applicable Final Terms; and (ii) either (1) in relation to 

any sum payable in a Specified Currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign 

exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealing in foreign 

exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre of the country of the relevant 

Specified Currency (if other than the place of presentation and any Additional Financial Centre and 

which if the Specified Currency is Australian dollars or New Zealand dollars shall be Sydney or Auckland, 

respectively) or (2) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a day on which the TARGET System is open:  

provided that such a day is a business day for the purposes of the centralised system operated by Interbolsa (as 

defined by a notice of Interbolsa, according to which such a business day corresponds to a day on which the 

TARGET system is open).” 

 

10. Section 5.7 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named 

“Interpretation of principal”, which could be found on page 97 of the Base Prospectus, has been renumbered to 

5.4. 

 

11. Section 6.2 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named “Redemption 

at the option of the Issuer (Call Option)”, which could be found on page 98 of the Base Prospectus, has been 

entirely replaced as follow: 

“If Issuer Call Option is specified in the applicable Final Terms, the Issuer may, having given (unless otherwise 

specified, in the applicable Final Terms) not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the Common 

Representative, the Agent and, in accordance with Condition 11 (Notices), the holders of Covered Bonds (which 

notice shall be irrevocable) redeem all or some only (as specified in the applicable Final Terms) of the Covered 

Bonds then outstanding on any Optional Redemption Date(s) and at the Optional Redemption Amount(s) specified 
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in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Final Terms together, if applicable, with interest 

accrued to (but excluding) the relevant Optional Redemption Date(s). Upon expiry of such notice, the Issuer shall 

be bound to redeem the Covered Bonds accordingly. Any such redemption must be of a nominal amount not less 

than the Minimum Redemption Amount and not more than the Maximum Redemption Amount in each case as may 

be specified in the applicable Final Terms. In the case of a partial redemption of Covered Bonds, the nominal 

amount of all outstanding Covered Bonds will be redeemed proportionally.” 

 

12. Section 6.3 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named “Redemption 

at the option of the holders of Covered Bonds (Put Option)”, which could be found on page 98 of the Base 

Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“If Investor Put Option is specified in the applicable Final Terms, upon the holder of any Covered Bond giving to 

the Issuer in accordance with Condition 11 (Notices) not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice the Issuer will, 

upon the expiry of such notice, redeem, subject to, and in accordance with, the terms specified in the applicable 

Final Terms, such Covered Bond on the Optional Redemption Date and at the Optional Redemption Amount as 

specified in, or determined in the manner specified in, the applicable Final Terms together, if appropriate, with 

interest accrued to (but excluding) the Optional Redemption Date. To exercise the right to require redemption of 

this Covered Bond the holder of this Covered Bond must deliver, at the specified office of any Paying Agent at any 

time during normal business hours of such Paying Agent, a duly completed and signed notice of exercise in the 

form (for the time being current) obtainable from any specified office of any Paying Agent and in which the holder 

must specify a bank account to which payment is to be made under this Condition. The right to require redemption 

will be exercised directly against the Issuer, through the Paying Agent.” 

 

13. Section 6.5 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named 

“Purchases”, which could be found on page 99 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“The Issuer or any of its subsidiaries may at any time purchase or otherwise acquire Covered Bonds at any price 

in the open market or otherwise. Such Covered Bonds may be held, resold or, at the option of the Issuer, surrendered 

to any Paying Agent for cancellation.” 

 

14. Section 6.6 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named 

“Cancellation”, which could be found on page 99 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“All Covered Bonds which are redeemed will forthwith be cancelled. All Covered Bonds so cancelled and any 

Covered Bonds purchased and surrendered for cancellation pursuant to Condition 6.5 above shall be cancelled 

by Interbolsa and cannot be held, reissued or resold.” 

 

15. Section 7.1 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named “Payments 

free of taxes”, which could be found on page 101 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Covered Bonds will be made subject to any legally 

applicable Tax withholding or deductions (notably in relation to residents for tax purposes in Portugal), except if 

any Tax withholding exemption or waiver applies, in which case such payments of principal and interest in respect 

of the Covered Bonds shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, Taxes (investors 
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being in any case required to comply with the applicable obligations). The Issuer will not be obliged to make any 

additional payments in respect of any such withholding or deduction imposed. In order for withholding tax not to 

apply the holders of the Covered Bonds must, inter alia, deliver certain tax certifications. See Taxation section.” 

 

16. Section 10 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named “Agent, 

Paying Agent and Registar”, which could be found on page 102 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced 

as follow: 

“10. AGENT AND PAYING AGENTS 

(A) The names of the Agent, the Paying Agent and their initial specified offices are set out below. In the event 

of the appointed office of any such bank being unable or unwilling to continue to act as the Agent, or failing duly 

to determine the Rate of Interest, if applicable, or to calculate the Interest Amounts for any Interest Period, the 

Issuer shall appoint such other bank to act as such in its place. 

(B) The Agent may not resign its duties or be removed from office without a successor having been appointed 

as aforesaid. The Issuer is entitled to vary or terminate the appointment of any Paying Agent and/or appoint 

additional or other Paying Agents and/or approve any change in the specified office through which any Paying 

Agent acts, provided that:  

(i) there will at all times be an Agent; 

(ii) the Issuer will, so long as any of the Covered Bonds is outstanding, maintain a Paying Agent (which may 

be the Agent) having a specified office in a city approved by the Common Representative in continental 

Europe;  

(iii) the Issuer will ensure that it maintains a Paying Agent in a Member State of the EU that will not be 

obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to European Council Directive 2003/48/EC or any other 

Directive or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to such 

Directive.” 

 

17. Section 11 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named “Notices”, 

which could be found on page 103 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“Notices to the holders of Covered Bonds shall, in respect of the Covered Bonds listed on Euronext Lisbon, be 

published on the Euronext Lisbon bulletin and on the CMVM’s information system (www.cmvm.pt). Furthermore, 

any such notice shall be disclosed by any further means required to allow a fast access by all holders of Covered 

Bonds throughout the European Union and shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, 

if published more than once or on different dates, on the first date on which publication is made, as provided 

above.  

All notices regarding the Covered Bonds shall comply with the applicable Portuguese law requirements, notably 

the CMVM’s Regulation No. 5/2008, as amended from time to time.” 

 

18. The second paragraph of Section 12 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED 

BONDS”, named “Meetings of holders of Covered Bonds”, which could be found on page 103 of the Base 

Prospectus, has been entirely replaced as follow: 
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“The quorum at any meeting convened to vote on: (i) a Resolution not regarding a Reserved Matter will be any 

person or persons holding or representing holders of the Covered Bonds of the relevant Series, whatever the 

Principal Amount Outstanding of the Covered Bonds then outstanding so held or represented in such Series; or 

(ii) a Resolution regarding a Reserved Matter of the Covered Bonds, will be any person or persons holding or 

representing at least 50 per cent. of the Principal Amount Outstanding of the Covered Bonds of the relevant Series 

then outstanding or, at any adjourned meeting, any person being or representing holders of Covered Bonds of the 

relevant Series, whatever the Principal Amount Outstanding of the Covered Bonds then outstanding so held or 

represented in such Series. Each Covered Bond grants its holder one vote.” 

 

19. Section 14 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, named 

“Replacement of Covered Bonds, Coupons and Talons”, which could be found on page 105 of the Base Prospectus, 

has been entirely replaced as follow: 

“14. REPLACEMENT OF COVERED BONDS 

Should any Covered Bond be lost or destroyed, it may be replaced, in accordance with Article 51 of the Portuguese 

Securities Code, at the specified office of the financial intermediary where such Covered Bond is registered or 

deposited (as the case may be) upon payment by the claimant of such costs and expenses as may be incurred in 

connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require.” 

 

20. The definition of “Agency and Payments Procedures” included on Section 18 of the heading “TERMS AND 

CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, which could be found on page 107 of the Base Prospectus, has 

been entirely replaced as follow: 

““Agency and Payments Procedures” means the set of agency and payments procedures (such agency and 

payments procedures as amended and/or supplemented and/or restated) dated 30th April 2008 and made and 

agreed by Banco BPI, S.A. (acting in its capacity as Agent, which expression shall include any successor) and by 

any subsequent agent, paying agent, transfer agent and/or agent bank appointed by the Issuer, as amended.” 

 

21. The definitions of “Bearer Covered Bonds”, “Clearing Systems”, “Couponholders”, “Coupons”, “Definitive 

Covered Bonds”, “Definitive Bearer Covered Bonds”, “Definitive Registered Covered Bonds”, “Global Covered 

Bonds”, “NGN”, “Permanent Bearer Global Covered Bond”, “Receiptholders”, “Receipts”, “Talon and Talons” 

and “Temporary Bearer Global Covered Bond”  included on Section 18 of the heading “TERMS AND 

CONDITIONS OF THE COVERED BONDS”, which could be found on page 107 of the Base Prospectus, have 

been entirely deleted. 

 

22. The definition of “Interbolsa Participant” included on Section 18 of the heading “TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

OF THE COVERED BONDS”, which could be found on page 107 of the Base Prospectus, has been entirely 

replaced as follow: 

““Interbolsa Participant” means any authorised financial intermediary entitled to hold control accounts with 

Interbolsa on behalf of its customers and includes any depository banks appointed by Euroclear and Clearstream, 

Luxembourg for the purpose of holding accounts on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg.” 
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J. DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER 

1. The paragraph under the heading “Share Capital”, which could be found on page 132 of the Base Prospectus, 

has been deleted and replaced as follows: 

“As at 30 June 2017, Banco BPI's share capital amounted to €1,293,063,324.98 and was represented by 

1,456,924,237 ordinary shares with no nominal value (all issued shares are fully paid).” 

 

2. The paragraphs and table under the heading “Shareholders”, which could be found on page 130 of the Base 

Prospectus, has been entirely deleted and replaced as follows: 

“Banco BPI's share capital of 1 293 M.€, comprises 1 457 million nominative and dematerialised ordinary shares 

with no par value. All the shares are admitted to trading on the Euronext market.  

The results of Caixabank, S.A.'s public tender offer for Banco BPI, S.A. shares were made known on 8 February 

2017. Shareholder positions of more than 2% of the capital are now those presented in the following table: 

 

Shareholder positions in excess of 2% of Banco BPI's capital 

As at 13 February 2017  

Shareholders No. of shares held % of capital held1 

CaixaBank, S.A. 1 231 250 696 84.510%1) 

Allianz SE 122 744 370 8.425%2) 

 

Source: Information received from the Securities Exchange Clearing House (Central de Valores Mobiliários - 

CVM) relating to the shareholder positions registered as at 13 February 2017 at the Clearing House and as per 

public information disclosed to the market. 

1)  The shareholding held through Caixabank, S.A., is also imputable at Criteria Caixa, S.A.U., which was the 

holder of 40% of Caixabank, S.A.'s voting rights according to the announcement to the market on 14 

February 2017, which in turn is controlled by Fundación Bancaria Caixa d´Estalvis i Pensions de 

Barcelona, "La Caixa", holder of 100% of the respective voting rights in terms of article 20(1)(b), of the 

Securities Code. 

2)  Indirect shareholding held by subsidiaries controlled by Allianz SE, the Allianz Group holding company, 

and imputable to that entity in terms of article 20(1)(b) of the Securities Code: direct shareholding of 8.275% 

held by Allianz Europe Ltd. (100% owned by Allianz SE) and direct shareholding of 0.150% held by 

Companhia de Seguros Allianz Portugal (65% owned by Allianz SE). 

 

At 13 February 2017, Banco BPI's capital was held by 12 106 Shareholders, of whom 11 825 were individuals 

who owned 4.7% of the capital, whilst 281 belonged to the institutional investor and corporate classes, owning 

95.3% of the capital. 

Currently the Issuer has a set of internal procedures and regulations which define the functions of the Executive 

Committee of Board of Directors, of the Supervisory Board, of the Nominations, Evaluation and Remunerations 

Committee, of the Risk Committee and of the Audit and Internal Control Committee. These internal procedures 
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and rules comply with applicable laws and regulations in force and governance best practices, namely in what 

concerns transactions with related parties and these measures implemented by the Issuer are also thought to avoid 

the major shareholder position’s abuse.” 

 

3. The paragraphs under the heading “Selected Historical Key Information” which could be found on page 132 

of the Base Prospectus, have been amended and supplemented as follows: 

“The following tables contain selected key financial information for the year ended 31 December 2016 and for the 

first quarter 2017. 

There have been no recent events particular to the Issuer which are material to the evaluation of the Issuer’s 

solvency since the publication of the Issuer's audited consolidated results for the year of 2016.  

Source: Banco BPI’s 2016 Annual Report (Portuguese version) and unaudited consolidated information for the 

first quarter 2017(Portuguese version) 
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BANCO BPI, S.A.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015

(Translation of balance sheets originally issued in Portuguese - Note 5)

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Euro)

Dec. 31, 15

Notes

Amounts 

before 

impairment, 

depreciation 

and 

amortisation

Impairment, 

depreciation 

and 

amortisation

Net Net Notes Dec. 31, 16 Dec. 31, 15

ASSETS LIABILITIES

Cash and deposits at central banks 4.1   876 621   876 621  2 728 185 Resources of central banks 4.15  2 000 011  1 520 735

Deposits at other credit institutions 4.2   300 190   300 190   612 055 Financial liabilities held for trading 4.16/4.4   212 713   294 318

Resources of other credit institutions 4.17  1 096 439  1 311 791

4.3/4.4  2 197 913  2 197 913  3 674 604 Resources of customers and other debts 4.18  21 967 681  28 177 814

Financial assets available for sale 4.5  3 983 429   106 995  3 876 434  6 509 388 Debt securities 4.19   506 770  1 077 381

Loans and advances to credit institutions 4.6   637 607   637 607  1 230 043 Financial liabilities relating to transferred assets 4.20   555 385   689 522

Loans and advances to customers 4.7  23 430 958   695 200  22 735 758  24 281 622 Hedging derivatives 4.4   97 756   161 556

Held to maturity investments 4.8   16 317   16 317   22 417

Hedging derivatives 4.4   25 802   25 802   91 286 4.9  5 951 398

Provisions 4.21   70 235   99 864

4.9  6 295 910  6 295 910 Technical provisions 4.22  2 048 829  3 663 094

Other tangible assets 4.10   431 991   381 036   50 955   195 095 Tax liabilities 4.23   22 006   92 050

Intangible assets 4.11   118 699   93 070   25 629   29 138 Other subordinated debt and participating bonds 4.24   69 500   69 512

Other liabilities 4.25   777 404   680 156

4.12   175 678   175 678   210 447 Total Liabilities  35 376 127  37 837 793

Tax assets 4.13   471 848   471 848   420 214 SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Other assets 4.14   631 759   33 769   597 990   668 798 Subscribed share capital 4.27  1 293 063  1 293 063

Other equity instruments 4.28   4 309   5 194

Revaluation reserves 4.29 (  21 514) (  87 564)

Other reserves and retained earnings 4.30  1 044 319   972 587

(Treasury shares) 4.28 (  10 809) (  12 797)

Other accumulated comprehensive income related to discontinued 

operations
4.9 (  182 121)

Consolidated net income of the BPI Group 4.45   313 230   236 369

Shareholders' equity attributable to the shareholders of BPI  2 440 477  2 406 852

Non-controlling interests 4.31   468 048   428 647

Total Shareholders' Equity  2 908 525  2 835 499

Total Assets  39 594 722  1 310 070  38 284 652  40 673 292 Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity  38 284 652  40 673 292

OFF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

Guarantees given and other contingent liabilities 4.32  1 466 208  1 828 781

Of w hich:

     [Guarantees and sureties] [1 294 856] [1 497 070]

     [Others] [171 352] [331 711]

Commitments 4.32  3 392 479  3 372 509

The Accountant The Board of Directors

Financial assets held for trading and at fair value through 

profit or loss

Dec. 31, 16

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these balance sheets.

Investments in associated companies and jointly controlled 

entities

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 

operations

Non-current liabilities held for sale and discontinued operations
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(Translation of statements originally issued in Portuguese - Note 5)

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Euro)

Consolidated net income  313 230  168 865  482 095  236 369  140 849  377 218

Income not included in the consolidated statements of income related to 

continued operations:

Items that w ill not be reclassified to net income

Actuarial deviations ( 211 692) ( 211 692)  144 783  144 783

Tax effect  56 123  56 123 ( 42 263) ( 42 263)

( 155 569) ( 155 569)  102 520  102 520

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net income

Foreign exchange translation differences ( 23 036) ( 23 036) ( 10 899) ( 10 899)

Revaluation reserves of f inancial assets available for sale:

Revaluation of f inancial assets available for sale ( 8 539) ( 8 539)  38 370  38 370

Tax effect  1 907  1 907 ( 10 692) ( 10 692)

Transfer to income resulting from sales ( 22 495) ( 22 495)  7 089  7 089

Tax effect  6 171  6 171 ( 1 972) ( 1 972)

Transfer to income resulting from impairment recognized in the period  24 471  24 471  10 019  10 019

Tax effect ( 6 705) ( 6 705) ( 2 290) ( 2 290)

Valuation of assets of associated companies ( 8 932) ( 8 932) ( 12 817) ( 12 817)

Tax effect  2 032  2 032  2 303  2 303

( 35 126) ( 35 126)  19 111  19 111

Income not included in the consolidated statements of income related to 

discontinued operations

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net income

Foreign exchange translation differences ( 87 845) ( 88 616) ( 176 461) ( 66 046) ( 66 218) ( 132 264)

Income not included in the consolidated statements of income ( 278 540) ( 88 616) ( 367 156)  55 585 ( 66 218) ( 10 633)

Consolidated comprehensive income  34 690  80 249  114 939  291 954  74 631  366 585

The Accountant The Board of Directors

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements. 

BANCO BPI, S.A.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 PROFORMA

Dec. 31, 16 Dec. 31, 15 Proforma

Attributable to 

shareholders of the BPI 

Group

Attributable to non-

controlling interest
Total

Attributable to 

shareholders of the BPI 

Group

Attributable to non-

controlling interest
Total
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(Translation of statements of income originally issued in Portuguese - Note 5)

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Euro)

Interest and similar income  518 935  689 453

Interest and similar expenses ( 154 724) ( 372 090)

Financial margin (narrow sense) 4.33  364 211  317 363

Gross margin on unit links 4.34  13 454  12 967

Income from equity instruments 4.35  8 528  4 739

Net commission relating to amortised cost 4.36  21 216  21 115

Financial margin  407 409  356 184

Technical result of insurance contracts 4.37  24 613  31 804

Commissions received  260 293  260 671

Commissions paid ( 29 766) ( 32 571)

Other income, net  28 861  27 058

Net commission income 4.38  259 388  255 158

Gain and loss on operations at fair value  23 994  53 621

Gain and loss on assets available for sale  23 876 ( 6 114)

Interest and f inancial gain and loss w ith pensions  1 040   413

Net income on financial operations 4.39  48 910  47 920

Operating income  20 613  23 124

Operating expenses ( 37 483) ( 40 865)

Other taxes ( 6 898) ( 6 942)

Operating income and expenses 4.40 ( 23 768) ( 24 683)

Operating income from banking activity  716 552  666 383

Personnel costs 4.41 ( 307 996) ( 302 370)

General administrative costs 4.42 ( 168 571) ( 178 011)

Depreciation and amortisation 4.10/4.11 ( 21 370) ( 19 887)

Overhead costs ( 497 937) ( 500 268)

Recovery of loans, interest and expenses  13 733  16 249

Impairment losses and provisions for loans and guarantees, net 4.21 ( 33 009) ( 103 367)

Impairment losses and other provisions, net 4.21 ( 36 483) ( 15 903)

Net income before income tax  162 856  63 094

Income tax 4.43 ( 44 690) ( 2 130)

Earnings of associated companies (equity method) 4.44  26 190  33 433

Net income from continuing operations  144 356  94 397

Net income from discontinued operations  337 739  282 821

Income attributable to non-controlling interests from continuing operations 4.31 (  45) (  43)

Income attributable to non-controlling interests from discontinued operations 4.9 ( 168 820) ( 140 806)

Income attributable to non-controlling interests 4.45 ( 168 865) ( 140 849)

Consolidated net income of the BPI Group 4.45  313 230  236 369

Earnings per share (in Euro)

   Basic 4.45 0.216 0.163

   Diluted 4.45 0.215 0.162

Earnings per share from continuing operations (in Euro)

   Basic 4.45 0.099 0.065

   Diluted 4.45 0.099 0.065

Earnings per share from discontinued operations (in Euro)

   Basic 4.45 0.117 0.098

   Diluted 4.45 0.116 0.097

The Accountant The Board of Directors

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015 PROFORMA

BANCO BPI, S.A.

Dec. 31, 2015 

Proforma
Dec. 31, 2016Notes
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BANCO BPI, S.A.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AS OF MARCH 31, 2017 AND DECEMBER 31, 2016 

(Translation of balance sheets originally issued in Portuguese

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Euro)

Dec. 31, 16 

Notes

Amounts 

before

impairment, 

depreciation 

and 

Impairment 

and

amortisation

Net Net Notes Mar. 31, 17 Dec. 31, 16

ASSETS LIABILITIES

Cash and deposits at central banks 4.1  1 300 234  1 300 234   876 621 Resources of central banks 4.15  1 999 541  2 000 011

Deposits at other credit institutions 4.2   272 078   272 078   300 190 Financial liabilities held for trading 4.16/4.4   208 713   212 713

Resources of other credit institutions 4.17  1 834 909  1 096 439

4.3/4.4  2 421 412  2 421 412  2 197 913 Resources of customers and other debts 4.18  22 413 451  21 967 681

Financial assets available for sale 4.5  3 924 054   107 144  3 816 910  3 876 434 Debt securities 4.19   288 593   506 770

Loans and advances to credit institutions 4.6   781 808   781 808   637 607 Financial liabilities relating to transferred assets 4.20   525 570   555 385

Loans and advances to customers 4.7  23 408 671   690 308  22 718 363  22 735 758 Hedging derivatives 4.4   92 973   97 756

Held to maturity investments 4.8   16 316   16 316   16 317

Hedging derivatives 4.4   21 104   21 104   25 802 4.9  5 951 398

Provisions 4.21   69 305   70 235

4.9  6 295 910 Technical provisions 4.22  1 985 175  2 048 829

Other tangible assets 4.10   431 600   383 568   48 032   50 955 Tax liabilities 4.23   66 518   22 006

Intangible assets 4.11   120 044   95 489   24 555   25 629 Other subordinated debt and participating bonds 4.24   369 866   69 500

Other liabilities 4.25   587 340   777 404

4.12   681 600   681 600   175 678 Total Liabilities  30 441 954  35 376 127

Tax assets 4.13   447 498   447 498   471 848 SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Other assets 4.14   451 441   24 670   426 771   597 990 Subscribed share capital 4.26  1 293 063  1 293 063

Other equity instruments 4.27   1 556   4 309

Revaluation reserves 4.28 (  16 315) (  21 514)

Other reserves and retained earnings 4.29  1 377 380  1 044 319

(Treasury shares) 4.27 (   377) (  10 809)

Other accumulated comprehensive income related to 

discontinued operations
4.9 (  182 121)

Consolidated net income of the BPI Group 4.43 (  122 331)   313 230

Shareholders' equity attributable to the shareholders of BPI  2 532 976  2 440 477

Non-controlling interests 4.30   1 751   468 048

Total Shareholders' Equity  2 534 727  2 908 525

Total Assets  34 277 860  1 301 179  32 976 681  38 284 652 Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity  32 976 681  38 284 652

OFF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

Guarantees given and other contingent liabilities 4.31  1 446 660  1 466 208

Of w hich:

     [Guarantees and sureties] [1 269 293] [1 294 856]

     [Others] [177 367] [171 352]

Commitments 4.31  3 215 788  3 392 479

The Accountant The Board of Directors

Financial assets held for trading and at fair value 

through profit or loss

Mar. 31, 17

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these balance sheets.

Investments in associated companies and jointly 

controlled entities

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 

operations

Non-current liabilities held for sale and discontinued 

operations
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(Translation of statements originally issued in Portuguese)

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Euro)

Consolidated net income ( 122 331)   12 ( 122 319)  45 766  38 448  84 214

Income not included in the consolidated statements of income related to 

continuing operations:

Items that w ill not be reclassified to net income

Actuarial deviations  32 855  32 855 ( 46 508) ( 46 508)

Tax effect ( 8 667) ( 8 667)  12 711  12 711

 24 188   0  24 188 ( 33 797)   0 ( 33 797)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net income

Foreign exchange translation differences  1 850  1 850 ( 9 701) ( 9 701)

Revaluation reserves of f inancial assets available for sale:  4 652  4 652 ( 11 462) ( 11 462)

Tax effect ( 1 281) ( 1 281)  3 170  3 170

Valuation of assets of associated companies ( 1 886) ( 1 886)  7 018  7 018

Tax effect   452   452 (  211) (  211)

 3 787   0  3 787 ( 11 186)   0 ( 11 186)

Income not included in the consolidated statements of income related to 

discontinued operations

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net income

Foreign exchange translation differences  182 099  182 099 ( 76 611) ( 76 345) ( 152 956)

Income not included in the consolidated statements of income  210 074   0  210 074 ( 121 594) ( 76 345) ( 197 939)

Consolidated comprehensive income  87 743   12  87 755 ( 75 828) ( 37 897) ( 113 725)

The Accountant The Board of Directors

BANCO BPI, S.A.

INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE PERIODS ENDED MARCH 31, 2017 AND 2016 PROFORMA

Mar. 31, 17 Mar. 31, 16 Proforma

Attributable to 

shareholders of the BPI 

Group

Attributable to non-

controlling interest
Total

Attributable to 

shareholders of the BPI 

Group

Attributable to non-

controlling interest
Total

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements. 
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(Translation of statements of income originally issued in Portuguese)

(Amounts expressed in thousands of Euro)

Interest and similar income  114 326  139 709

Interest and similar expenses ( 22 059) ( 53 589)

Financial margin (narrow sense) 4.32  92 267  86 120

Gross margin on unit links 4.33  3 117  3 631

Income from equity instruments   71   42

Net commission relating to amortised cost 4.34  5 768  5 416

Financial margin  101 223  95 209

Technical result of insurance contracts 4.35  3 600  7 856

Commissions received  63 026  61 163

Commissions paid ( 7 375) ( 7 357)

Other income, net  7 363  7 135

Net commission income 4.36  63 014  60 941

Gain and loss on operations at fair value  7 198 ( 5 086)

Gain and loss on assets available for sale   661   843

Interest and f inancial gain and loss w ith pensions (  205)   664

Net income on financial operations 4.37  7 654 ( 3 579)

Operating income  14 943  3 214

Operating expenses ( 186 850) ( 2 701)

Other taxes ( 4 083) ( 1 718)

Operating income and expenses 4.38 ( 175 990) ( 1 205)

Operating income from banking activity (  499)  159 222

Personnel costs 4.39 ( 77 887) ( 73 984)

General administrative costs 4.40 ( 41 374) ( 44 768)

Depreciation and amortisation 4.10/4.11 ( 5 471) ( 5 483)

Overhead costs ( 124 732) ( 124 235)

Recovery of loans, interest and expenses  6 170  3 901

Impairment losses and provisions for loans and guarantees, net 4.21   113 ( 20 128)

Impairment losses and other provisions, net 4.21  3 547 ( 3 292)

Net income before income tax ( 115 401)  15 468

Income tax 4.41 ( 63 066) ( 13 428)

Earnings of associated companies (equity method) 4.42  56 148  5 552

Net income from continuing operations ( 122 319)  7 592

Net income from discontinued operations  76 622

Income attributable to non-controlling interests from continuing operations 4.30 (  12) (  9)

Income attributable to non-controlling interests from discontinued operations 4.9 ( 38 439)

Income attributable to non-controlling interests (  12) ( 38 448)

Consolidated net income of the BPI Group 4.43 ( 122 331)  45 766

Earnings per share (in Euro)

   Basic 4.43 ( 0,084) 0,032

   Diluted 4.43 ( 0,084) 0,031

Earnings per share from continuing operations (in Euro)

   Basic 4.43 ( 0,084) 0,005

   Diluted 4.43 ( 0,084) 0,005

Earnings per share from discontinued operations (in Euro)

   Basic 4.43 0,000 0,026

   Diluted 4.43 0,000 0,026

The Accountant The Board of Directors

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements. 

INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME FOR THE PERIODS ENDED MARCH 31, 2017 AND 2016 PROFORMA

BANCO BPI, S.A.

Mar. 31, 16 

Proforma
Mar. 31, 17Notes
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The auditor’s reports on the consolidated financial statements of Banco BPI for the year ended 31 December 2016 

did not include any reserves.  

Please refer to the complete versions of the auditor’s report included in the annual report of Banco BPI, together 

with the respective financial statements, which are incorporated by reference in this Prospectus.” 

 

4. A new paragraph has been included at the end of the heading “Management”, which could be found on page 

145 of the Base Prospectus, as follows: 

“Mr. Armando Leite de Pinho, Mr. Carlos Moreira da Silva and Mr. Mário Leite da Silva submitted their 

resignations as Members of the Issuer’s Board of Directors.” 

 

5. The heading “Management”, which could be found on page 145 of the Base Prospectus has been amended and 

supplemented  as follows: 

“The following is a list of the members of the Board of Directors, approved in the General Meeting held on 26 

April 2017, for the 2017/2019 term of office. The business address of each of the below-mentioned members of the 

Board of Directors is Banco BPI, S.A., Largo Jean Monnet, 1, 1269-067 Lisbon, Portugal. 

Board of Directors8: 

Chairman: Fernando Ulrich 

Deputy-Chairman: Pablo Forero 

Deputy-Chairman: António Lobo Xavier 

Members: Alexandre Lucena e Vale 

 Allianz Europe, Ltd. 

 António Farinha de Morais 

 Cristina Rios Amorim 

 Francisco Manuel Barbeira 

 Gonzalo Gortázar Rotaeche 

 Ignacio Alvarez-Rendueles 

 João Oliveira e Costa 

 José Pena do Amaral 

 Javier Pano Riera 

 Juan Antonio Alcaraz 

 Juan Ramon Fuertes 

 Lluís Vendrell Pi 

 Pedro Barreto 

 Tomas Jervell 

 Vicente Tardio Barutel” 

 

                                                      
8 Under the terms of Article 30-B (4) of the General Regime for Credit Institutions and Financial Companies the beginning of functions of the 
members elected to the Board of Directors and to the Supervisory Board may only take place after obtaining the authorization from Banco of 

Portugal. The procedure for obtaining the authorization is currently under way. Until such authorization has been obtained, the current 

members of the Board of Directors/ Supervisory Board will remain in office. 
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6. The heading “Supervisory Board”, which could be found on page 147 of the Base Prospectus has been amended 

and supplemented  as follows: 

“The following is a list of the members of the Supervisory Board8, whose business address is the Issuer’s head 

office,  approved in the General Meeting held on 26 April 2017, for the 2017/2019 term of office: 

Chairman: Rui Manuel Campos Guimarães 

Members: Jorge de Figueiredo Dias 

 Francisco Javier Olazabal Rebelo Valente 

Deputy Member Luis Manuel Roque de Pinho Patricio” 

 

7. The paragraph under the heading “Statutory Auditor”, which could be found on page 148 of the Base 

Prospectus, has been amended and supplemented  as follows: 

“Paulo Alexandre de Sá Fernandes has been responsible for the legal certification of accounts and audit report 

for the year ended 31 December 2016.” 

 

K. GENERAL INFORMATION  

1. The paragraph under the heading “Significant or Material Change”, which could be found on page 172 of the 

Base Prospectus, has been entirely deleted and replaced as follow: 

“The Issuer is currently implementing a programme of early retirements and voluntary termination of employment 

contratcts which, upon its conclusion, may have an impact on its financial information.. 

Save as disclose  above, there has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since the publication 

of the 2016 Report (Audited consolidated financial statements) and no significant change in the financial information the 

Issuer and BPI Group since the publication of the Issuer’s unaudited consolidated financial information as at 31 March 

2017.” 

 

2. The heading “Litigation”, which could be found on page 172 of the Base Prospectus, has been  amended and 

supplemented as follow: 

“On 2 February 2017 Banco BPI informed the market that on 30 January 2017 was notified of a legal action 

challenging a corporate resolution. 

Such legal action challenges the validity of Banco BPI’s General Meeting resolution passed on December 13 

2016, which approved Banco BPI’s Board of Directors proposal to sell to Unitel, S.A. a stakeholding comprised 

of 26 111 (twenty-six thousand, one hundred and eleven) shares, representing 2 per cent. (two per cent.) of the 

share capital of Banco de Fomento Angola, S.A., pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement mentioned above. 

The legal action was filed by 4 shareholders holding together 175 920 shares, representing 0.0121 per cent. of 

Banco BPI’s share capital. Banco BPI understands that the merits relied on to support the invalidity of the 

resolution do not proceed and will contest the case, within the legal period for such purpose. 

The abovementioned legal action and Banco BPI’ notification in such action do not suspend the effects of the 

contested decision. 

Save as disclose  above, there have been no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any 

proceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Issuer is aware) during the 12 months preceding the 
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date of this Base Prospectus which may have or have had in the recent past a significant effect on the Issuer’s 

financial position thereof.” 

 

3. The heading “Accounts”, which could be found on page 173 of the Base Prospectus, has been  amended and 

supplemented as follow: 

“The consolidated accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2016 were prepared according to 

International Accounting Standards (IAS) and with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued 

by International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and endorsed by the European Union.” 

 

4. The paragraphs under the heading “Documents Available”, which could be found on page 173 of the Base 

Prospectus, have been amended and supplemented with the insertion of the following: 

“(k) the Portuguese version of the Issuer’s consolidated Annual Report in respect of the financial year ended on 

31 December 2016; 

(l) the Portuguese version of the Issuer’s unaudited consolidated information for the first quarter 2017;” 

 

5. The paragraphs and tables under the heading “Post issuance reporting”, which could be found on page 174 of 

the Base Prospectus, have been entirely deleted and replaced as follow: 

“Any information which the Issuer is required by law or regulation to provide in relation to itself or securities 

issued by it, including the Covered Bonds, will be made available at www.cmvm.pt and at www.bancobpi.pt. 

The Issuer publishes quarterly investor reports on the outstanding Covered Bonds, including information on the 

Cover Pool and the applicable Overcollateralisation. Such reports are available at: 

http://bpi.bancobpi.pt/index.asp?riIdArea=AreaDivida&riChgLng=1&riLang=en&riId=ProgramaEmissoesOH

2&riIdTopo=. 

The following information could be found on the March 2017 Investor Report:  
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L. DEFINITIONS 

The definitions of “Bearer Covered Bonds”, “Clearing Systems”, “Couponholders”, “Coupons”, “Definitive 

Covered Bonds”, “Definitive Bearer Covered Bonds”, “Definitive Registered Covered Bonds”, “Exchange Date”, 

“Global Covered Bonds”, “NGN”, “Permanent Bearer Global Covered Bond”, “Receiptholders”, “Receipts”, 

“Talon and Talons” and “Temporary Bearer Global Covered Bond” included on the heading “DEFINITIONS”, 

which could be found on page 182 of the Base Prospectus, have been entirely deleted. 

 

 

Dated 13 July, 2017 


